Historic, archived document

Do not assume content reflects current scientific knowledge, policies, or practices.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

BULLETIN No. 681

Also Bulletin 26 of The Engineering Experiment Station The Pennsylvania State College

> Contribution from the Bureau of Chemistry CARL L. ALSBERG, Chief

and the Engineering Experiment Station of The Pennsylvania State College R. L. SACKETT, Dean

V

Washington, D. C.

May 18, 1918

GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS

INVESTIGATION IN THE EXPERIMENTAL ATTRITION MILL AT THE PENNSYLVANIA STATE COLLEGE

By

B. W. DEDRICK, Instructor in Milling Engineering, and R. B. FEHR, Assistant Professor of Mechanical Engineering, The Pennsylvania State College, in collaboration with DAVID J. PRICE, Engineer in Charge, Grain-Dust Explosion Investigations, Bureau of Chemistry, Department of Agriculture

CONTENTS

Object and Scope of the Investigation . Principles Underlying Grain-Dust Ex- plosions	
Principles Underlying Grain-Dust Ex- plosions	1
plosions	
Apparatus Used in Investigation	4
	6
Materials Used in Investigation	10
Experimental Work	10
Experiments from April 6, 1916, to Octo-	
ber 3, 1917	12

	Page
Discussion of Results and Conclusions .	. 39
Summary of Conclusions	. 48
Appendix:	
Recommendations for Future Inves-	
tigations	49
Résumé of Some Past Explosions	. 49
Bibliography	. 52



WASHINGTON GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE 1918





Washington, D. C.

May 18, 1918

GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS:

INVESTIGATION IN THE EXPERIMENTAL ATTRITION MILL AT THE PENNSYLVANIA STATE COLLEGE, ¹

By B. W. DEDRICK, Instructor in Milling Engineering, and R. B. FEHR, Assistant Professor of Mechanical Engineering, The Pennsylvania State College, in collaboration with DAVID J. PRICE, Engineer in Charge, Grain-Dust Explosion Investigations, Bureau of Chemistry, Department of Agriculture.

CONTENTS.

	Page.		Page.
Object and scope of the investigation	1	Discussion of results and conclusions	- 39
Principles underlying grain-dust explosions.	4	Summary of conclusions	48
Apparatus used in investigation	6	Appendix:	
Materials used in investigation	. 10	Recommendations for future investiga-	-
Experimental work	10	tions	. 49
Experiments from April 6, 1916, to October		Résumé of some past explosions	. 49
3, 1917	. 12	Bibliography	52

OBJECT AND SCOPE OF THE INVESTIGATION.

The great loss of life and property resulting from explosions in coal mines, flour and feed mills, grain elevators, thrashing separators, etc., emphasizes the fact that carbonaceous dusts are very inflammable and that careful laboratory and field investigations should be conducted in order to devise means for combating this great danger. Although Faraday in 1844 suggested that coal dust suspended in air would propagate an explosion, it has been recognized only within the past 30 years that coal dust is explosive without the presence of a combustible gas. And not only coal dust, but many other carbonaceous dusts are now known to be very inflammable and capable of propagating flames. Some idea of the large amount of attention that has been given to the explosibility of dusts can be gained by referring to the bibliography at the end of this bulletin (p. 52) and to that printed in Bureau of Mines Bulletin 20, which deals particularly with coal-dust explosions.

¹ The erection of the mill and the conduct of the experiments were under the charge of B. W. Dedrick and R. B. Fehr, of the Department of Mechanical Engineering, assisted by P. X. Rice, R. E. Campbell, and E. F. Grundhoeffer, instructors in experimental engineering, and C. L. Charles, student assistant.

In June, 1913, an explosion in a feed-grinding plant in Buffalo, N. Y., caused the death of 33 men, injured more than 70 employees, and damaged a great deal of grain and property. Shortly afterwards the Bureau of Chemistry began its work in connection with dust explosions in grain mills, elevators, and industrial plants. During the period in which this study has been carried on a large number of disastrous dust explosions, in which many lives have been lost, large quantities of grain and food products destroyed, and much property damaged, have occurred in grain elevators, feed, cereal, and flour mills, starch factories, sugar refineries, and other industrial plants which handle grain. Several definite causes for these explosions have been established, and effective preventive methods have been developed and tested. At present the United States Department of Agriculture is conducting a special war-emergency campaign for the prevention of dust explosions and fires. Representatives of the department are rendering direct assistance to the millers and grain men of the country in installing devices for preventing explosions and in showing them how to remedy dangerous conditions.

fl

The grain-dust explosion work, as conducted by the Bureau of Chemistry, falls into two general classes:

(1) Dust explosions which occur in grain mills, elevators, and industrial plants during the handling and milling of grains and the manufacture of food products.

(2) Dust explosions which occur in thrashing machines during the operations in the harvest fields.

MILL AND ELEVATOR EXPLOSIONS.

As soon as possible after the occurrence of an explosion in a mill or elevator, the field engineers of the bureau investigate carefully the conditions under which the explosion originated and assist the company to devise and install some means for preventing any more such explosions. During the course of these field investigations it has become apparent that one of the causes for a large number of dust explosions and fires in the cereal and feed mills, particularly in the feed-grinding departments, is the ignition of the dust on the interior of the grinding machine during operation. In many instances the evidence indicated that the explosion and fire originated within the machine, usually in the attrition type of mill. As they were believed to have been caused by sparks from foreign particles or metallic substances entering with the grain, the bureau emphasized the necessity for taking steps to remove these materials from the mill stream before it entered the grinding machines.¹

 $\mathbf{2}$

¹ Preliminary Report on the Explosibility of Grain Dusts, Cooperative Investigation by Millers Committee, Buffalo, N. Y., under the direction of Dr. Ceorge A. Hulett, chief chemist, Bureau of Mines, U. S. Department of the Interior, by David J. Price, engineer in charge, and Harold H. Brown, assistant chemist, Grain-Dust Explosion Investigations, Bureau of Chemistry, U. S. Department of Agriculture Copies no longer obtainable.

Early in the investigation it became obvious that experimental work was necessary to determine the circumstances under which the explosions and fires might originate and to establish definitely the possible causes. Because of the equipment available in connection with its milling course and its convenient location to Eastern mills, The Pennsylvania State College was selected as the best place for an experimental mill. This phase of the dust-explosion work was accordingly assigned to the experimental department of that institution, the experiments being conducted under a cooperative agreement between the Department of Agriculture and The Pennsylvania State College. The materials were furnished by various milling companies at the request of the department. This bulletin gives a description of the equipment of the mill, the manner in which the experiments were carried on, and the results obtained, together with an outline of conditions conducive to explosions in grinding machines and the effect of various preventive devices.

Aside from the relation of explosions and fires to grinding processes in the milling industry, the phase of the grain-dust explosion problem discussed in this bulletin, the department engineers have established a number of additional possible causes, among which may be mentioned: The use of open flames, lanterns, gas jets, etc., defective electrical equipment, frictional electricity produced by friction of pulleys and belts, choke-ups and friction in elevator legs, inefficient methods of dust removal and collection, and the continuance of dust rooms.

Recent investigations by the bureau have revealed the surprising fact that many of the owners and operators of large grain mills and elevators are unfamiliar with the circumstances surrounding graindust explosions, as a result of which dangerous conditions are permitted to exist. Recently a fire, originating in a dust explosion at the top of the elevator leg in one of the large grain elevators in the East, destroyed almost 1,000,000 bushels of grain. The present crisis makes it imperative that all known precautionary methods be adopted. The Department of Agriculture is therefore redoubling its efforts, and has arranged to conduct a special emergency campaign throughout the United States, to the end that grain dealers and millers may become familiar with the work already done. The field engineers will assist the millers and operators of grain elevators in the installation of preventive devices already developed by the Bureau of Chemistry.

THRASHING-MACHINE EXPLOSIONS.

The second division of the department's investigations into the matter of grain-dust explosions comprises an extensive study of thrashing-machine explosions, which has been confined largely to the States of Washington, Idaho, and Oregon.¹ During the past season the investigation has been extended to Colorado, Texas and other grain-growing sections.

THE EXPERIMENTAL ATTRITION MILL.

The investigations conducted with the experimental attrition mill were undertaken for (1) the determination of the possible causes of explosions, and (2) the testing of various preventive measures that have been suggested during the progress of the work. The entire scope of the investigation can be seen in the following outline of the various phases of the problem that were touched upon:

đ

- 1. Sparks emitted by foreign substances.
- 2. Naked flame.
- 3. Carbon arc in attrition mill.
- 4. Carbon arc in dust room.
- 5. Explosibility of various grains.
- 6. Static electricity in attrition mill.
- 7. Static electricity as cause of explosions.
- 8. Effect of atmospheric humidity.
- 9. Effect of moisture content of materials.
- 10. Revolving dampers or fire traps.
- 11. Relief valve and pipe.

PRINCIPLES UNDERLYING GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS.

On account of the general lack of knowledge concerning the theory of dust explosions it may be advisable to insert at this point a brief summary of the chief facts and principles involved.

It is generally conceded that two main conditions must be present in order that a dust may produce an explosion: (1) Fine, dry dust must be in a state of suspension in an atmosphere containing the proper amount of oxygen. (2) A source of sufficient heat must be brought in contact with the dust.

It should be noted that carbonaceous dusts are not considered capable of igniting spontaneously, for an outside source of heat is required. The following sources of heat have been listed as the probable causes of many of the explosions in milling plants throughout the country:²

1. Use of open lights, or naked flames, such as lamps, torches, gas jets, lanterns, candles, and matches.

2. Entrance of foreign material in grinding machines.

3. Electric sparks from motors, fuses, switches, lighting systems.

4. Static electricity produced by friction of pulleys and belts, grinding machines, etc.

As for the first condition, many factors are involved, such as the chemical composition, moisture content, fineness, atmospheric humidity, density or degree of diffusion, and presence of inert gases.

The Bureau of Chemistry is now conducting laboratory investigations of these factors, and has obtained data on the relative inflammabilities of various grain dusts, as well as on the use of inert gases. Briefly, the conclusions reached thus far are as follows:¹

1. Most of the carbonaceous dusts have a higher degree of inflammability than Pittsburgh coal dust.

2. An inert gas mixture containing 12 per cent or less of oxygen will prevent a dust explosion from starting or propagating.

In 1913 R. V. Wheeler,² chief chemist for the Explosion in Mines Committee, England, published the report of his investigations of the relative inflammabilities of various dusts. He classified dusts as follows:

1. Dusts which ignite and propagate flame readily, the source of heat required for ignition being comparatively small, for example, a lighted match.

2. Dusts which are readily ignited, but which, for the propagation of flame, require a source of heat of large size and high temperature, such as an electric arc, or of long duration, such as the flame of a Bunsen burner.

3. Dusts which do not appear to be capable of propagating flame under any conditions likely to obtain in a factory, because they do not readily form a cloud in air, or are contaminated with a large quantity of incombustible matter, or the material of which they are composed does not burn rapidly enough.

Class 1.	
Sugar.	Grain (flour mill).
Starch.	Maize.
Rice mea. and sugar refuse.	Grain (grain storage).
Wood flour.	Rape seed.
Malt.	Corn flour.
Oat husk.	Flour (flour mill).
Class 2.	
Rice milling.	Grist milling.
Castor oil meal.	Corn meal.
Offal grinding (bran).	Mustard.
Class 3.	
Spice milling.	Sack cleaning.
Cotton seed.	Rape seed (Russian).
Cotton seed and soy bean.	Grain cleaning.

Available data show quite conclusively that there is a great similarity between gas and dust explosions. The following extract from an article³ by H. H. Brown, of the Bureau of Chemistry, is of interest in this connection:

It will be noted that just as high pressures have been observed in coal-dust explosions as in gas explosions. However, the extremely high velocities attained by the flame in certain gas mixtures have not been reported as observed in dust explosions. Such high velocities could not be expected, for even the finest dust particles are many times larger than gas molecules, and so, even in the most dense dust clouds, the particles could not be as close together nor as intimately mixed with the oxygen as are gas molecules. Therefore, the heat of combustion of one dust particle can not be as readily transmitted to the next particle as it can in a mixture of gases. But the finer the dust the more nearly will it approach the size of a gas molecule. Therefore, it

¹ References 36 and 37, Bibliography. ² Reference 26, Bibliography. ³ Reference 36, Bibliography.

might be expected that the velocity of the flame through a cloud of very fine dust would more nearly approach the velocity attained in gas explosions. As a matter of fact, this is true. Taffanel has brought this out in tests made at the French Experiment Station. Results obtained by the Bureau of Mines lead to the same conclusion.

The rate at which inflammation travels through a gas mixture is dependent upon at least two factors, the inflammability of the gas and the percentage of the gases in the mixture. The rate at which inflammation travels through a dust cloud seems to be dependent upon two similar factors, namely, the inflammability of the dust and the amount of dust in suspension. A third important factor is the fineness of the dust.

C

It will be seen, therefore, that gas and dust explosions are similar in many ways, and that a gas explosion is only a limited case of a dust explosion.

A thorough knowledge of the nature of dust explosions and of the accompanying phenomena is necessary in order to devise means for the prevention of such explosions and for the stoppage of explosions if by mischance they should start. It is, therefore, necessary to know how dust ignites, the various means by which it may be ignited or inflamed, and the chemical processes that take place. Another important factor to know is the ease with which the dust ignites and propagates a flame. This property we may call the "inflammability" of the dust. The term "explosibility" has also been applied in this connection.

It is important to note that investigations of dust explosions indicate that, in general, two reports are heard, the first being sharp and quick, and the second of a loud, rumbling nature and accompanied by more flame. It is thought that the first report is due to the ignition of a small quantity of fine dust in suspension, and that the resulting concussion is sufficient to disturb the dust that has settled at places farther away, thus forming an additional explosive mixture. The flame from the first explosion furnishes the source of ignition for this newly formed dust mixture, so that the big explosion with its loud roar is propagated throughout the entire dust zone.

APPARATUS USED IN THE INVESTIGATION.

For the purpose of conducting the experiments on grain-dust explosions a small, light frame building (15 by 15 by 24 feet), covered with galvanized iron, was erected by the Department of Mechanical Engineering, Pennsylvania State College (Pl. I). A small dust room was afterwards built at the side of the main structure at the discharge end of the screw conveyor. The grinding floor is elevated about 6 feet above the basement, which is level with the ground.

A 16-inch attrition mill (Pl. II) was installed on a platform 14 inches high, with a removable hopper underneath. Two elevators, one dump bin, a stock hopper over the mill, and a small bin for receiving ground materials were also provided. A screw conveyor 10 feet long was placed 2 feet below the floor to receive the material from the mill, and to carry it to the chop elevator or out into the dust room. The attrition mill, screw conveyor, and elevator are driven by a 15-horsepower direct-current motor, located in the basement.

The elevator legs and feed bin can be seen on the left of figure 1, Plate II. Immediately over the mill hopper are the spouts extending down from the stock bin and elevator. The removable hopper is partially withdrawn from under the mill platform. Above this hopper is one of the steel carbon holders entering the wooden door which has replaced the iron door of the lower part of the hood. In this wooden door is located a peephole, covered with mica, for the purpose of observing any sparks or flashes that may occur within the hood. On the opposite side of the mill (Pl. II, fig. 2) is a similar arrangement of peephole and carbon holder. The rheostat and ammeter for regulating the carbon arc, located on the edge of the hopper of the floor dump, are shown on the right. On the floor back of these instruments can be seen the recently installed relief pipe (R), leading from the hopper to the outside of the building, a distance of $8\frac{1}{2}$ feet.

Plate III, figure 1, shows the dust room, located at the end of the conveyor, and the small door which gives access to the basement of the mill building. A small box (E) was built over the open end of the conveyor for the purpose of inclosing the carbon arc used in Series 4 (p. 14.) A relief pipe extends from this box up through the roof, and is capped by the hood (F).

Figure 1 gives a sectional view of the 16-inch attrition mill which was used for the tests described in this report. The grinding



FIG. 1.—Sectional view of ball-bearing attrition mill.

plates or disks $(d_1 \text{ and } d_2)$ revolve in opposite directions at about 2,200 revolutions per minute. The upper part of the hood or casing (c) inclosing the grinding disks can be readily removed. H is the feeding hopper where the grain is introduced and fed by a "wabbler," which is run by the friction pinion on the shaft (f). Horizontal slides within the hopper regulate the amount of feed. The adjustment of the fineness of grinding is accomplished by handwheels (1 and 2), the latter serving as a locking device. The tension spring (ts) holds

the left disk in position, and acts as a safety appliance to allow the disks to separate in case hard substances pass through the mill. L is a quick-release lever for operating the spreading device.

Figure 2 is a diagrammatic view of the removable hopper (h)



FIG. 2.—Elevation-attrition mill and conveyor. Single damper.

under the mill, spout (s), single revolving damper (installed for Series 8 and 9), and screw convevor. The by-pass spout with its valve and peephole (C) was installed for the purpose of observing how far the flame due to an explosion may be propagated without the use of a "check" valve. B is a peephole for observing any flames that may pass the damper.

C

The construction of the single damper can be seen in figure 3, which gives the arrangement when two of these single dampers were



FIG. 3 .- Views of double damper.

placed in series, as in Series 11. As can be seen in the sectional view, the paddles or blades with their rubber "wipers," shown in black, are so arranged that there is never a clear path through the damper.



FIG. 1.



FIG. 2. EXTERIOR OF EXPERIMENTAL MILL BUILDING.

Bul. 681, U. S. Dept. of Agriculture.



FIG. 1.



Fig. 2. Interior of Experimental Mill Building.

PLATE II.

U

0

G



FIG. 1.-DUST ROOM.



FIG. 2.-REMOVABLE HOPPER.

U

0

G



FIG.1.-DOUBLE DAMPER.



FIG. 2.-INTERIOR OF BASEMENT.

In figure 4, which is a diagrammatic view of the double damper and principal parts of the mill equipment, it is seen that the conveyor was lowered about 10 inches in order to make room for the double damper. Otherwise, the arrangement is practically the same as that in figure 2. The relief value at A was installed with the relief pipe





as explained in Series 13 (p. 18). The "spout to elevator," with its slide under the screw conveyor, shows how the ground material could be "recirculated," as stated in several series of tests, by means of the elevator and spouts shown in Plate II, figure 1.

The two dampers were positively connected with each other by means of a chain and sprocket wheels (fig. 3) and were so arranged that they served as a double check for the flame propagated by explosion in the attrition mill. Plate IV gives two views of this double damper from opposite sides, figure 2 of the plate showing also the screw conveyor, peepholes, and spout leading to the boot of the meal or chop elevator.

Plate III, figure 2, shows the removable hopper, with the sheetiron lining and swinging relief valve as installed for Series 13. This hopper was constructed so as to make a snug fit with the lower part of the hood of the attrition mill. When the hopper is in position under the attrition mill, the relief pipe (R) (Pl. II, fig. 2) can be attached to the stub spout containing the relief valve.

50220°-18-Bull. 681-2

Plate I shows the puffs of smoke, dust, and charred particles that followed a flame issuing from the end (G) of the relief pipe when an explosion occurred in the attrition mill (Series 13).

DESIG- NATION.	NAME.	DESCRIPTION.
A	Fine oat hulls	Oat hulls, finely ground in an attrition mill, millstone, or other grinding
в	Elevator dust	mil. Dust that has settled on machines, beams, etc., in a grain elevator. It is a highly inflammable dust of a very light and fine texture, and com- posed of floating carbonaceous material of grain, outer skins, together with forcier during the statement of the
C D ₁	Oat hulls. Flour direct from store.	The hulls stripped from oats, as in the preparation of oatmeal. The interior or endosperm of any grain reduced to a very fine powdery state and free from the branny covering. It is composed mostly of starch, and is highly inflammable when in suspension.
$\begin{array}{c} D_2 \dots \\ D_2 \dots \end{array}$	Flour (oven dried) Graham flour	Flour dried in an oven at about 150° F. This is wheat which is ground but not bolted. It contains all of the flour bran and germy parts.
F	Wheat scourings	A fluffy and inflammable dust taken from dust collectors which are con- nected to the scouring or brush machines. It consists of foreign mate- rials, such as dirt, smut, and portions of the light, thin, and loose outer skins of the bran.
G II	Corn. Wheat shorts	Shelled corn. Composed of the finer portions of bran, germ, and some floury material, separated from flour, in the process of milling.
I J	Coarse floor sweepings Fine floor sweepings	A coarser mill dust, settling on floor in immediate vicinity of mill. The lighter and finer mill dust which settles in the room and outside the immediate vicinity of the attrition mill.
K	Conveyor mixture	A mixture of various materials as obtained from the end of the screw con- veyor.
L	No. 2 feed dust	Consists of very fine particles of bran, fuzz, smut dust, and dirt, taken from the dust collector which draws air from the first scourer.
M	No. 1 feed dust	A material taken from the dust collector drawing the air through the second scourer. It consists almost entirely of the outer layers of the bran which have been removed by the scouring action of beaters.
N	Fine oat hull dust	This material is very finely ground oat hulls, brought out by the con- veyor in the form of dust.
0	No. 3 elevator dust	Floating dust gathered by hand from the beams and machinery in the
P	Barley malt sprouts	Consists of barley malt sprouts that have been used as mash material and then dried
Q	Malt sprouts	Consists of the radicles grown on the barley during the germinating proc-
R	Brewers' dried grain	This is the residue from a mash tub in a brewery or distillery, and con- sists of malt, corn, rice, hops, etc., which have been boiled and then dried
S	Dried grain	This corresponds to "brewers' dried grain," except that the original mash consists of corn, barley, malt, and the radicles grown on barley during the germinating process, which are later broken off and dried.

MATERIALS USED IN THE INVESTIGATION.

0

0

G

EXPERIMENTAL WORK.

The results of the investigation are reported, first, by describing and summarizing briefly each one of the experiments performed, and, second, by discussing each one of the factors mentioned in the scope of the work (p. 12).

PRELIMINARY TESTS.

The experimental mill building at The Pennsylvania State College was completed in the spring of 1915, and the attrition mill, elevators, and conveyor were installed during the early part of the summer. During August several preliminary experiments were made for the primary purpose of ascertaining if explosions would result from the sparks emitted by foreign materials (nails, flint, matches, etc.) when passing between the grinding disks along with the grain. At first the hood of the attrition mill was removed, so that the sparks emitted could be observed. When a single nail (eightpenny, but clipped to a length of about one-half inch) or small piece of stone was passed through the mill, sparks were, in nearly every case, emitted from different points of the periphery of the disks. Feeding 1 to 2 ounces of these clipped nails, small pieces of flint, or other hard materials, either singly or in combination, resulted in a large number of sparks, as in the case of an emery wheel. These sparks were thrown a distance of from 10 to 16 inches from the periphery of the disks. The sparks were emitted radially when both discs were running, and tangentially when one disk was stationary. When matches were fed into the mill, usually no sparks were emitted from the periphery of the disc, as the rapidly revolving arms of the disk generally ignited the matches before they had fairly entered the eye of the runner.

After making these observations of the sparks produced by foreign materials passing through the attrition mill, the hood was replaced, so that various kinds of grain products could be fed into the mill, with pieces of flint, nails, matches, etc. Three to five quarts of oat hulls, corn, elevator dust, flour, wheat scourings, wheat shorts, and floor sweepings were fed into the mill, at first singly, then in various combinations, with about 2 ounces of foreign materials, a quantity which probably would greatly exceed the amount of such materials finding their way into an attrition mill with the grain during a comparatively long period, under ordinary milling conditions. The disks were set very close in order to grind as fine as or even finer than is usual. Repeated attempts with such materials as flour, dried elevator dust, and dust settlings failed to produce a single explosion. Further efforts were made to obtain explosions by duplicating, as far as possible, the actual conditions obtaining in an attrition mill, by feeding the grain at normal rate until several bagfuls had been passed through. At frequent intervals pieces of nails, flint, etc., were added with the grain, but never was there the slightest evidence of an explosion.

The first explosion in the experimental attrition mill was obtained shortly after the preceding series of runs at the time when J. K. Clement, of the Bureau of Mines, was present to witness the tests. The bottom of the hopper was closed by the slide so as to retain the ground material and not permit any dust to escape except through the hand hole, which was open. When a quantity of elevator dust and ground oat hulls was fed into the mill, a rather dense cloud of dust issued from the hand hole, due to the fan-like action of the grinding disks. Upon placing a gasoline blow torch near this hand hole, the dust ignited and a flame, 6 feet long, shot out toward the wall. The hopper was immediately withdrawn, and about a quart of the same materials thrown into the mill, while the torch was introduced just within the space previously occupied by the hopper. A very thick cloud of dust was blown into the room. Immediately an explosion, or rather a large flame, occurred, followed by a second and more extensive one, covering nearly all the floor area of the dusty side of the building and extending almost to the roof. The door and windows were open. Otherwise, some damage might have resulted. As it was, the arms of the man who handled the torch were burned.

a

0

6

The results of these preliminary experiments (observed by J. K. Clement, B. W. Dedrick, M. P. Helman, J. Weaver, and F. Kline), may be summarized as follows:

1. More than 40 attempts with a total of from 3 to 5 pounds of foreign materials, such as nails, small pieces of stone and flint, and matches, fed along with various kinds of explosive grain products, failed to produce a single explosion.

2. Two attempts with a naked flame were successful in producing explosions.

EXPERIMENTS FROM APRIL 6, 1916, TO OCTOBER 3, 1917.

SERIES.1.

Object.—The object of the test was to determine whether explosions could be obtained by foreign materials capable of emitting sparks when ground, or by an electric arc located near the disks of the attrition mill.

Conditions.—The two removable iron doors of the mill were replaced by wooden doors, provided with peepholes covered with several layers of mica, and drilled for the insertion of iron carbon holders for the electric arc. The position of the arc could be shifted between the shaft and periphery of the disks, but it was soon found that its location did not seem to have any effect on the regularity of the explosions. As a rule, in this and succeeding tests, the arc was located nearer the shaft than the periphery. A rheostat and ammeter were provided for regulating the current (usually 15 to 20 amperes) through the arc. The hopper underneath the grinding disks was put in place, and its hand hole was left open so that the flash due to an explosion could be seen.

Results.-

1. Sparks from foreign materials did not cause an explosion.

2. The electric arc caused four explosions out of six attempts when large handfuls of feed were used.

3. Low rates of feeding did not produce an explosion with the electric arc.

4. Oat hulls, ground or unground, did not ignite, except when mixed with the highly inflammable elevator dust.

5. With elevator dust, when fed by the handful, either alone or with oat hulls, four explosions out of four attempts were obtained.

SERIES 2.

Object.—Same as that of Series 1.

Conditions.—Similar to those of Series 1, except that one of the disks was blocked so as to permit foreign substances, such as nails, to be in longer contact with the revolving disk and thus to give off more sparks. Definite amounts, usually 1 pint, of feed were measured out for the purpose of determining the limits of explosibility of various mixtures.

Results.—

1. In 21 attempts with the electric arc and various grains and mixtures, 16 explosions were obtained.

2. A mixture of 1 part elevator dust to about 8 parts of oat hulls appeared to be the limit of explosibility of these grain products.

3. When there was no opening the explosion was propagated to the outside end of the screw conveyor, as indicated by puffs of smoke (E in Pl. III, fig. 1, and in fig. 4).

4. Blocking one disk appeared to give results not different from those obtained when both disks were running.

5. Other results corroborated those of Series 1.

SERIES 3.

Object.—The primary object was to determine how far the flame was propagated from the source of the explosion.

Conditions.—The conditions of the test were similar to those of Series 2 (one disk being blocked), but the humidity was very high, inasmuch as there was a steady rain during a large part of the test. A 4 by 4 inch hole was cut in the upper part of the horizontal screw conveyor, about 1 foot from the chute leading down from the attrition mill and about 5 feet 4 inches from the shaft of the mill. The various kinds and mixtures of feed were prepared and measured into small paper bags, the contents of one of which were dumped into the feeding hopper at each attempt.

Results .---

1. Out of 39 attempts with the electric arc, 36 explosions occurred, in spite of the very damp atmosphere.

2. Explosions were obtained with elevator dust and oat hulls, and elevator dust, flour, graham flour, wheat scourings, floor sweepings, corn, and various mixtures of these substances.

3. The following classification of the 36 explosions may be made (Pl. III, fig. 1, and text fig. 2):

27 flashes were observed at B (5 feet 4 inches from shaft of mill).

9 flames were observed at E (12 feet 6 inches from shaft of mill).

3 flames were observed at F (17 feet from shaft of mill).

4. During the course of the tests the conveyor continually brought out smoldering lumps of ground products, which could be readily fanned into a red glow.

SERIES 4.

Object.—The object of this series of tests was to attempt to obtain an explosion in the dust room (located outside the building, at the end of the screw conveyor) and to determine if such explosion would propagate the flame back to the mill.

R

Conditions.—This dust room (5 by 10 feet by 7 feet high) was made as tight as possible, and the door was replaced by a heavy muslin curtain to retain the dust, at the same time permitting free expansion in case of an explosion. The electric arc was located at first in a small box built above the end of the conveyor, and later just outside this box. In both cases the arc was regulated by means of a long wooden pole extending to a safe point outside the building. The duct leading from E to the vent at F was removed (Pl. III, fig. 1). The hopper was placed under the grinding disks, and all holes, including B, were closed, in order to retain the dust as far as possible. Both disks of the attrition mill were run at their normal speed of 2,200 revolutions per minute. The arc was turned on, and various kinds of grain products, which had given explosions in previous tests, were run through the mill as rapidly as possible in order to get a large amount of dust into the dust room. After various grains had been fed for 15 minutes, a blast of burning dust was observed issuing from the outlet in the box above the conveyor. It was evident that the rapidly revolving attrition mill produced enough draft to force its dust out at the conveyor end without the use of a special fan. In fact, the force of the blast was so great that it did not appear possible for the flame to get back to the attrition mill. The flame was extinguished by merely turning off the arc, and then more elevator dust was rapidly fed into the mill, the arc having been turned on again. Within 2 minutes, another heavy blast of flame was observed at the end of the conveyor. In this instance the flame could not be extinguished by turning off the arc, because the wooden box on the end of the conveyor had caught fire. The mill was stopped immediately, and the burning box saved by means of a fire extinguisher. After the arc had been placed just outside this box the mill was run again. Elevator dust and ground oat hulls were fed for 15 minutes, during which time the room became very dense with dust. Although the arc had been burning during this time, no explosion occurred, but, as before, due to the intense heat radiating from the air, the box over the end of the conveyor was again on fire. The mill was stopped, and the fire easily extinguished with a pail of water.

Results.—No explosions were obtained in the dust room by means of an electric arc in this series of tests.

SERIES 5.

Object.—This test was run as a demonstration to Government officials from the Bureau of Mines (G. A. Hulett and J. K. Clement) and from the Bureau of Chemistry (D. J. Price, H. H. Brown, and W. G. Goodenow).

Conditions.—The arc was located near the disks, which were run at their normal speed. Various kinds of grain products (except elevator dust, the supply of which had been exhausted) were fed into the attrition mill.

Results.—Although explosions were readily obtained with flour and wheat scourings, none was obtained with corn, as in Series 3. In fact, the regularity and force of the explosions, none of which caused the flame to extend as far as the end (E) (Pl. III, fig. 1) of the conveyor, were not nearly as great as in Series 3, in spite of the relatively low humidity (49 per cent) of Series 5, as compared with other tests.

SERIES 6 AND 7.

Object.—These experiments were run to determine whether an explosion would result from the discharge of static electricity.

Conditions.—The conditions of testing were similar to those of previous tests with the electric arc. The carbons were replaced by $\frac{3}{4}$ -inch brass balls screwed on the ends of long $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch iron rods, which replaced the $\frac{3}{4}$ -inch iron carbon holders. These $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch rods were inserted through porcelains in the wooden door of the hood, to insure insulation from the metal frame of the machine, and were connected by 15-foot leads to the poles of a small Wimshurst machine.

Results.—Under normal conditions this machine was capable of producing a good spark about 3 inches long, but under the conditions of the test, with the long leads, and great leakage, it gave only a very weak spark, hardly more than $\frac{1}{2}$ inch long, between the brass knobs near the disks of the mill. It was, therefore, decided to make use of an induction coil instead of the static machine. By this means a very hot and almost continuous spark 2 inches long could be obtained between the brass knobs. On two different days a total of 20 attempts was made to obtain explosions with various inflammable dusts by means of the spark from an induction coil. The spark gap was varied from $\frac{1}{2}$ to $1\frac{3}{4}$ inches. No explosions occurred. This negative result, of course, does not indicate that static electricity can not cause an explosion in an attrition mill, but rather that under the particular conditions of the test, the mixtures of air and dust were not sufficiently inflammable to be ignited by the sparks from an induction coil. In order to show that the electric arc, on account of the greater amount and intensity of heat produced, could ignite the same mixtures under the same conditions, the carbons were quickly substituted for the brass knobs, and then within 10 minutes

of Series 7, a number of explosions was obtained in Series 8 with the same substances by means of the electric arc.

SERIES 8 AND 9.

Object.—The object of these tests was to note the effect of a single revolving damper in preventing the propagation of explosions occurring in an attrition mill.

Conditions.—The revolving damper was installed as shown in figure 2. The details of this damper may be seen in figure 3, which shows two such dampers in series. The by-pass and butterfly valve were inserted to make certain that the flame would be propagated that far when the damper was off, or out of service.

Results .---

 57
 29
 28
 11
 0
 21
 6
 0

SERIES 10.

Object.—To determine whether static electricity was built up during the operation of an attrition mill.

Conditions.—For this purpose a sensitive gold-leaf electroscope was procured from the Department of Physics. The collecting devices consisted of a comb made up of pins and tin foil located near one of the driving belts and of two 5-foot flexible lamp cords with 3-inch pieces of No. 14 bare copper wire soldered to each end. During the tests the casing of the electroscope was grounded by being held in the hand, while the binding part of the gold leaf was connected by the flexible wire lead to the collecting comb, or any part where it was desired to test for static electricity. The attrition mill was run at its normal speed of 2,200 revolutions per minute.

Results.—See Table 10, page 29.

SERIES 11.

Object.—To note the effect of a double damper in preventing the propagation of explosions.

Conditions.—The single damper used in Series 8 and 9 seemed to retard to a marked degree the propagation of explosions occurring in the attrition mill, but did not always prevent the flame from getting past the damper. Consequently, a double damper (figs. 3 and 4 and Pl. IV) was installed, with a view to checking any flame that might pass the first set of revolving paddles. Incidentally the mill was run several hours while oat hulls were fed at as great a rate as possible. The ground oat hulls were conveyed back into the mill in order to produce as much dust as possible. For over an hour the electric arc was turned on, but not a single explosion resulted.

Results.-

1. During the operation of the attrition mill under severe conditions as to rate of feeding and source of ignition no explosion could be obtained with oat hulls during a period of over an hour.

2. Out of six explosions with the dampers in service two flames shot past B and D (fig. 4).

3. In two instances with the dampers in service smoke was observed issuing from the end of the conveyor, but without any force.

SERIES 12.

Object.—Same as that of Series 11.

Conditions.—Similar to those of Series 11, except that the oat hulls used during the preliminary run had been fairly well dried by being spread out in shallow pans, which were then placed on top of radiators for a period of several days. Thus the moisture content was reduced from 9.9 to 3.2 and 5.7 per cent.

Results .---

1. Only one explosion was obtained during the continuous grinding of fine oat hulls.

2. In each of the four explosions with the double damper in service a flame got past the damper and in three cases extended as far as **D**.

3. In no instance was a flame observed at the end of the conveyor.

4. Smoldering lumps of ground products were found to be very dangerous, in that they set fire to the wooden base of the attrition mill.

On account of the fire hazard involved in these smoldering lumps of grain, special emphasis should be placed on this result of Series 12. During this series of tests it was observed that smoldering lumps, resulting from the explosions, were frequently brought out by the screw conveyor. Some of these lumps happened to be placed on several layers of asbestos paper. After several minutes it was observed that a hole had been burned through the asbestos paper. Even when this smoldering material was buried under several inches of grain it continued to burn, although not as well as when it was spread out in a thin layer and exposed to the atmosphere. That this smoldering material was to be regarded as a great source of danger was very forcibly demonstrated when on the following morning it

50220°-18-Bull, 681-3

was discovered that the wooden platform and floor near the removable hopper of the attrition mill had been set on fire, evidently by some smoldering grain that had not been removed after the experiments of the preceding day. This result strongly suggests a greater use of sheet iron, or other noncombustible material, in milling plants.

SERIES 13.

Object.—The object of this experiment was to note the effect of a pressure-relief pipe.

Conditions.—It had been suggested that a means for automatically relieving the pressure, due to an explosion, might aid materially in preventing the propagation of the flame to a dangerous part of the mill. Accordingly, a device (Pl. II, fig. 2, and Pl. I, fig. 1) consisting of a pipe 5 inches in diameter and $8\frac{1}{2}$ feet long, with a rectangular end containing a light sheet-iron relief valve, which remained closed by its method of overhead suspension (fig. 3), was installed. This end of the relief pipe was inserted in the hopper (Pl. III, fig. 2), which had been lined with galvanized iron on account of the many fires that had occurred in the wooden hopper.

Results.—

1. In nearly all of the 14 explosions with the damper in service a flame and puff of smoke were observed at the end of the relief pipe (G), indicating that the relief valve opened properly.

2. In four out of eight instances, however, flames were observed getting past the double damper. although never as far as the conveyor end.

SERIES 14 AND 15.

Object.—The primary object of these last experiments was to determine whether certain grain products, such as oat hulls, containing considerable dust, barley malt sprouts, malt sprouts, brewers' dried grain, and "dried grain," all of which had been recently received from various manufacturers, would give an explosion under severe conditions in an attrition mill. Incidentally, observations were made of the effects due to the relief pipe and double damper.

Results.—

1. By means of the electric arc, explosions were obtained with dusty oat hulls, malt sprouts, barley malt sprouts, brewers' dried grains, and various mixtures (Table 16).

2. Out of 45 explosions with the damper in service, four flames passed the damper, one of them extending as far as the end of the screw conveyor.

3. In all cases of explosions, puffs of smoke were observed at the end (G) of the relief pipe (Pl. I, fig. 1).

.

WILL.	
ATTRITION	
AT THE	
OBTAINED	
RESULTS	
OF	
STATEMENT	
TABULAR	

TABLE 1.—Series 1. Explosions with electric arc.¹

Domonico	Trental KS.	Started mill and brought it up to full speed, 2,200	revolutions per minute. Started feeding oat hulls. Large handful of feed at	ocuration to the			
aidity.	Out.	Per ct. 72		47			
Hun	In.	Per et.	0	51	40	44	
rature.	Out.	$^{\circ}F{49}$	51	51 53 53	51	51	
Tempe	In.	• <i>F</i> .	57	58 59 59	59	59	
Obsemution of avalation	HORONING TO HORON 19800		Nothing	Nothing (several attempts) Flash through hopper handhole;	Explosion of more force; flame	 Explosion intertine that in explosion 2. Explosion heaviest of all 	4 explosions.
Tanition	TOMING		Arc	do	Arc.	dodo	4
Rood	T GOOT		Ground oat hulls.	do	Mixture fine oat hulls and elevator	Elevator dust. Die-fourth oat hulls and sweep- ings, three-fourths elevator dust.	6 attempts.
Explo-	No.			-	2	co 44	
Timo	-ammr	a.m. 10.00	10.05	10.30 10.45 11.00	11.15	11.30	Sum- mary:

¹ The arc waslocated near the shaft and disks, and drew from 15 to 20 amperes.

Date: April 6, 1916. Weather: Cloudy, but bright; no wind; 51° F. Observers: R. L. Sackett, B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, B. J. Culp, H. R. Brown.

. *
3
ಷ
~~~
$\sim$
0
~
13
~
~
- 00
~
0
ల
~
~
$\frown$
$\sim$
0
04
୍ କ
ి లి
~
ు
20
<u>v</u>
- 6
- 1
· '.
01
04
5.7
- H
. 7
<
-
-

Domonica	AVUILIBIL K.S.	Started mill.					and the second	Intuition of inplyer was closed. End of conveyor in outside dust room only opening. Puff of smoke at end of con- vevor.	Do. Large puff of smokeat end of conveyor.	Do. Do. Shut down mill.	
dity.	Out.	Per ct.	87								
Humi	In.	Per ct. 82 70		70				. 73			
ature.	Out.	° F. 53		53				. <u>.</u>			
Temper	ln.	° F. 56		20 20				60			
	nition. Observation of explosion at mill.	Handhole of hopper open. Explosion Nothing.	Small flame	Explosion		do		Plash.	I.arger flash Heavy explosion	do	16 explosions.
	Ign	None. Arc. Arc (int.). Flint and r	Arc	do do	do do	dodo	dodo Arc (int.).	Arc	do do	do do do	
	Feed.	Blevator dust 1 pin elevator dust. do.	I pint 1:1 mixture elevator dust and oat hulls. I pint 1:2 mixture elevator dust and oat hulls.	1 pint 1.3 mixture elevator dust and oat hulls.	I print Let unixoure elevatori dust and out hulls. do 1 print 1:5 mixture elevator dust and	oat hulls. 1 pint 1.7 mixture elevator dust and oat hulls. 1 pint 1.9 mixture elevator dust and	oat hulls. do do 1 pint elevator dust.	1 pint elevator dust.	1 pint conveyor product	Same as No. 5. Same as No. 10. 1 pint oat hulls.	21 attempts.
Explo-	sion No.	1	ci co	-T LO (	0 1-20	10	П	12	13	15 16	
	Time.	a, m, 10, 00 10, 10 10, 12 10, 15	10.16	10.25	10.35 10.38 10.40 10.43	10.46 10.49	10.50 10.51 10.55	10.58	$11.02 \\ -11.07$	11.10 11.13 11.15	Sum-

-----

Date: April 13, 1916. Weather: Cloudy: no wind: 53° F. Observers: B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, B. J. Culp, H. R. Brown, R. E. Campbell, H. H. Colbus.

¢

BULLETIN 681, U. S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE.

e e	IVEILIAT KS.	Startad mill Tamaratura	(inside), 65° F. Humid- ity (inside), 82 per cent.	Shut down to repair belt. Started again.	Disks not together.	Disks together.	Most violent of any explo-	sion so far. Very good.					Steady rain. Temperature (inside), 60° F. Humid- ity (inside), 97 per cent.		Flame at top of air duct(F).
	В.		Puff	Puff	do	L'ulf do	do. Flame	Smoke Smoke	Much smoke	Flame. Smoke	Flame	Big flame No flame		Smoke	Flame. - do Smoke
Observations.	B.		Pufi	Flash	Puff.	Putt Flash	dodo.	do	do	do do do	-do	Sparks Big flame No flame		Flash	do do do
	Δ.		Puff.	Very large puff.	Heavy puff.	Heavy pull Puff	Light puff.	dodo	do	do Set hopper on fire Puff	Nothing	Puff. Big flare		Big puff and flame.	Puff do
Tumition	Jgnition.		Are.	Arc	do	do	do	dodododododododo	do	do do	Flint	Arc. do.		Matches Are	do do do
F	T COOT		1 pint elevator dust.	1 pint elevator dust	do to do	1 pure 1.2 mixture elevator dust and oat hulls. 1 pint 1.7 mixture elevator dust.	and oat hulls. 1 pint flour. 1 pint graham flour.	1 pint flour. do do 1 nint 11 mixture flour and eleve-	for dust. 1 pint wheat scourings	1 pint corn. do	do. do	1.1 mixture corn and clevator dust.		Elevator dust	Corn Flour, corn, and clevator dust
Explo-	No.		1	73	en -	4 ro	6	860 <u>1</u>	13	15	16	17 18 18		20	- 7228
 Time		a. m. 9.25	9.30	9.55 9.55	10.03	10.08	$10.10 \\ 10.12$	$10.14 \\ 10.16 \\ 10.20 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.22 \\ 10.2$	10.24	10.26 10.27	10.30	10.35 10.36 10.38 10.38	10.45	10.52	10.55 11.02

TABLE 3.—Series 3. Flame propagation.

GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS.

	Demode	-SALIBITIAN	. Outside temperature, 51° ${\rm F}$ .	Flameat topofair duct (F). Flame at F.	Still raining. Outside tem- perature, 52° F.
incontration atomatical and an in an and in the second second		В.	Smoke odo. do. Smoke	Big flame do No flash. Big flame Puff	do. do. do.
	Observations.	B.	Flash do. Smoke	Flash do No flash Flash Flash	2 flashes. Flash do.
		Α.	Nothing Pur an Nothing Pur	. do. . do. . do. . do.	2 pulls 2 pulls 36 explosions (27 flashes, 9 flames).
		-HOLDIN.	Aro 	Acceleration Accel	do do do
	7	. reet.	Plain wheat shorts. 1.2 mixture corn and flour. Flour. Coarse floor sweepings.	Fine floor sweepings. do. do. do. Conversor mixture. Conversor mixture.	do
	Explo-	No.	24 25 26	383888888	355
	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	·01111.1.	a. m. 11.04 11.05 11.05 11.07 11.107 11.12 11.12	11.15	11.25 11.25 11.25 11.26 S u m -

Date: A pr. 14, 1916. Weather: Steady rain: no wind; 51° F. Observers: B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, B. J. Culp, H. R. Brown, R. E. Campbell, H. H. Colbus.

TABLE 3.—Series 3. Flame propagation—Continued.

22

¢

|--|

Observers: G. A. Hulett, J.

Remarks.	Carbons of previous experiments were replaced by ³ -inch brass balls connected with an induction coll capable of producing	started mill.	Shut down.
Observations.		No explosion. do. do. do. do. do. do. do.	do do No explosions
Length of spark.	Inches.		
. Feed.		1 pint flour 2 pints flour 2 pints flour 1 pint flour 2 pints of lour 1 pint weat scourings 2 pints wheat scourings	2 pints floor sweepings. 1 pint floor sweepings. 12 attempts.
Time.	p. m.	2.20 2.30 2.0	3.30 3 u m - mary:

Date: June 26, 1916. Weather: Clear: warm: humidaty, about 70 to 80 per cent. Observers: B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, B. J. Culp, J. Weaver

TABLE 6.—Series 6. Preliminary test with induction coil.

24

¢

Time.     Time.     Feed.     Length of spark.     Observations.       a. m.     a. m.     Inches.     Inches.     Inches.       a. m.     a. m.     ipint flour.     00     00       b. m.     1 pint flour.     00     00     00       b. m.     1 pint flour.     00     00     00       b. m.     1 pint flour.     00     00     00       b. mary:     8 stempts.     00     00     00       mary:     8 attempts.     No explosions.     00       Date: June 27, 1916.     No     No explosions.     00		Remarks.	Sharfad mill. Shark can located shout 6 inches to one side of	Shaft		
Time.     Teed.     Length of spark.       a. m.     a. m.     Inches.       a. m.     a. m.     spark.       a. m.     a. m.     Inches.       b. m.     a. m.     Inches.       b. mary:     satempts.     Inthe floar sweepings.       Date: June 27, 1916.     Date: June 27, 1916.		Observations.		No explosion. do. do. do. do. do. do.	No explosions	
Time.     Feed.       a. m.     """       a. in     """       a. in     """       a. in     """       b. attempts.     """		Length of spark.	Inches.	-123-123-123-123-123-123-123		
Date 102 002 002 002 002 002 002 002 002 002		Feed.		2 pints corn 1 pint flour. 1 do 1 pint wheat scourings. 1 do 1 pint flue floor sweepings. 1 pint 1:2 mixture elevator dust and oat hulls.	8 attempts.	e: June 27, 1916.
	-	Time.	o a.m. 8.15	8 8 8	Sum- mary:	Date

Date: June 27, 1916. Weather: Clear: temperature, 82° F.; humidity, 82 per cent. Observers: B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, B. J. Culp, J. Weaver.

GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS.

TABLE 7.—Series 7. Induction coil.

.

h

•

25

-

.

Food.	Position of damper.	A.	B. Nothine	C.	E.	Remarks. Started mill. Ran Series 7, Tem- Benduce 322 F: hu- midity 82 per cent. Substituted carbons for brass balls. Con- Alout 1 viet 6 cod
elevator at hulls. elevator at hulls.	01. 40 01. 40 01. 40 01. 40 01. 40 01. 40 01. 70	Big flash. do. Small flash. Small flash. Small flash. Very Jash. Very flash. Large flash. do. do. do.	40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 4	40. 40. Nothing 10. 40. 40. 100 100 100 100 100 100	Puff Puff Nothing Nothing do Puff Nothing	Damper stuck. Damper stuck.
clevator t hulls. ngs.		do Largo flash. Nodhing Small flash. Largo flash. do do do	Flash Nothing Nothing do do do fo	Nothing. Puff Puff Puff Puff Puff Puff Mothine Nothine	Nothing Nothing Nothing do do	Flame got past dam- per. 2 pints feed. 2 pints feed. 10. 10.

TABLE 8.-Series 8. Revolving damper.

26

A 44

C

4.

per and floor on . Extinguished "pyrene." Mill th down. Tem- rature, 72 per midity, 72 per th.	started. Temper- ure, 86° F.; humid- , 87 per cent. in hopper.	nderstorm. Mill 1t down.	
Hop by by by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by fin by f by by f by b b b b b b b b b b b b	Mill atu ity Fire	Thu sh	
	Puff. Nothing	Puff	a punts (damper out) No puffs (damper on).
	Flash Nothing	Puff.	11 puffs (damper off).
	Nothing. do	do do 9 Aachae (2004 Aam	- name (per).
	Flash Small flash.	Flash	damper on).
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Off.	Off. do	
	Flour. do.	dodo	THOMP IT
	22	24	
8	P. m. 2.30 2.35	2.50 2.52	mary:

Date: June 27, 1916. Observers: B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, B. J. Culp, F. Kline, J. Weaver.

f	Kemarks,	Started mill. Humid- ity, 63 per cent. Electric arc. 6 attemnis.								Stopped to extinguish fire in hopper.	4 attempts.	2 attempts.	No observations at B.	C, and E made. Do.	·0.7	
	'a		Nothing	do do	Nothing. do	Puff.	Nothing	Puff do	Nothing- do	Puff	Puff	Nothing	Puff Nothing		Nothing	Puff.
rations.	°.		Flash. do	Nothing do	Nothing	2 flames. Puff Big floch	Nothing.	Puff Big flame	Nothing do	Flach	3 flashes.	Nothing	Nothing. do		Nothing.	Puff.
Observ	B,		Nothing	do do	Sparks. Large flash.	Nothingdo	do	do do	do. Flash	Nothine	Nothing	Flash	Nothing. do		Nothing	do
	Α.	Nothing	Puff. Big flash	do. do. 3 flashas	2 big flashes. 1 big flash.	4 flash.	3 flashes 2 flashes	Flash do do	do do	Flach	Nothing. Flash	2 flashes. Nothing	z nasnes Flash do	Small flash	Large flash	2 small flashes Flash
Docition of domnor	r ostuon of damper.	Off	dodododo.	On. Off	Õn do	он do	On do	Off do do	Ondo.	Off.	0ff.	Off.	On do do	do do	op	Off. do
Pood	reeu.	Flour	1:1 mixture wheat scourings and flour.	op op	do do	do do	op	do do do	-do do	Wheat scourings	do do	Flour and scourings.	op op	do	Mixture from con-	op
Explo-	No.		- 07 F	4100	1-00	۲0°	1212	15 15	17	19	80	7 :5	882	25	27	88
Thimo	'anna'	<i>p.m.</i> 2.10 2.30	2.40						3.10	3.20						

TABLE 9.-Series 9. Revolving damper.

28

€

No observation at B. Mill shut down.		
Nothing Nothing Nothing	12 puffs (damper off), no puffs (damper on).	
3 flashes. Nothing. do. 	9 flashes(damper off), 4 puffs (damper off).	
.do Nothing Nothing	4 flashes (damper on)	
3 flashes Large flash. do Nothing 2 large flashes.	33 explosions	
0ndo 	15 off, 18 on (during explosion).	
-do -do -do -do -do	46 attempts	
33.33		
3.40	u m - mary:	

Date: June 28, 1916. Weather: Clear; slight breeze; temperature, 87° F.; humidity, 55 per cent. Observers: B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, B. J. Culp, F. Kline, J. Weaver.

TABLE 10.-Series 10. Static electricity.

		Remarks.	pparatus: 5-foot flexible leads with 3-inch bare ends of No. 14 copper wire and sensitive goldleaf electro- scope.	tttrition mill runs at normal speed of 2,200 r. p. m.	n no case was there enough static electricity to cause a spark to jump from the belt to the knuckle.	
		. Frame of machine.	No deflection when lead is touched to Aframe.	V	<u>I</u>	
	Observations.	Crossed belt.		Same as in case of open belt, but deflec- tions not so great. No effect if hand touches bare end of lead.		
		Open belt.	olent deflection of gold leaf when con- act was made to comb of pins near belt. thection when bare end of lead is held near belt; greater the farther it is from ron pulley.	flection, even when hand touches bar and of lead, although not so great.		. A. Nickle.
and the second se	ions.	Hu- midity.	Per et. Vi	54 De		15, 1917. . B. Fehr,
	al condit	Tem- pera- ture.	° F.	. 42		: March rvers: R
	Gener	Time.	p.m. 3.00	3.20	S u m - mary:	Date Obse

# GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS.

	- F					Observations.			Humi	dity.	
ime.	Explo- sion No.	Feed.	Position of damper.	V IIIM	Doman	Dr nose (1)	Conv	eyor.	r L	Qut	Remarks.
				WIII A.	Dampu.	• O seed- for	D.	E.			
<i>m</i> 7.15 8.35 8.35 8.35		Old oat hulls New oat hulls							Per ct. 82	Per ct.	Started mill. Temperature, 46° F. Started feeding. Started feeding. Re-
8.50											circulated. Twrned on arc, 15 to 20 amneres
$\begin{array}{c} 9.00 \\ 9.15 \\ 9.18 \end{array}$										8	Arc off. Static elec- tricity detected on halts by detected on
9.20											Temperature of feed at A. 82° F.
$9.30 \\ 9.46 \\ 9.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50 \\ $									73		Shut down to adjust idler. Are off.
9.55										76	Fuse out. Shut down.
$ \begin{array}{c} 10.10 \\ 0.20 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\ 11.30 \\$									77	81	Shut down to align ma- chine and tighten belts. Started to rain. Test discontinued.
$\frac{1.10}{1.38}$	1	Flour	Off	Large flash	Puff	Puff.	Puff	Puff.		80	Mill started. One quart feed. Elec- tric arc.
1.41	2	dodo	On do	Nothing Puff.	Smoke	Nothing.	Nothing-	Nothing			Flour direct from store, 14.1 per cent moisture.
1.46 1.47 1.48 1.49	60 <b>4</b> 4	do do do	do do do	Nothing- do- Small puff 2 puffs.	Nothing]	Nothing. Puff	Nothing Puff	Nothing- Smoke			4

TABLE 11.-Series 11. Double damper.

30

C

Flour had been in drying oven, 9.3 per cent	moisture. Three attempts. Ground products from con-	Three attempts. Five attempts.	Four attempts. Two attempts.	Static electricity detected	on belts of machine.
\$				x	
	61			58	
Nothing Smoke do do	Nothing Puff				2 smokes (damperon).
Nothing Puff 2 puffs Puff Puff	Flash Puff				2 flashes (damperon) 1 puff (damperon).
Nothing Puf Flash and puf Puf Flash	do. Smoke				3 flashes (damperon) 4 puffs (damperon).
Nothing Puf 2 puf Puf Puf Long flame.	Long flame				2 flashes (damperon) 1 p u ff (damperon).
Nothing Purf. 2 purfs Purf. Nothing do	Large flame 2 flashes Nothing	do	do		11 explosions (5 w ith damper of, 6 w ith damper on).
do 001 do do do do do do do do do	off. do	do	do	-op	
00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	do do Conveyor	Wheat scourings No. 2 feed dust	No. 1 feed dust Fine oat hulls	1:3 mixture elevator dust and oat hulls.	37 attempts.
o ∞4¢Ω	10				More the
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	2, 18 2, 24 2, 33 2, 33 2, 33 2, 35	2.38- 2.40 2.42- 9.45	2. 49- 2. 52- 2. 54-	3. 20 3. 20	Sum- mary.

Weather: Cléar: slight breeze, temperature, 41° F. Observers: B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, P. X. Rice, R. Campbell, V. C. George, J. Weaver, R. P. Lewis, J. A. Spanogle, J. O. Reed, A. Kerstetter.

	Remarks.		Temperature outside,	58° F.; humidity, 61 percent. Started mill.	continuously. Recir- culated.			Nailed peepholes shut,	Probably due to dust	stirred up by sweeping in vicinity of hopper.	2 attempts.		9 attempts. Collected everything in	system. 3 attempts. 14.1 percent	a attemnts. 10.2 ner cent	moisture.		
idity.	ţ	out.	Per ct.		•	60 48 88 88	01					49			48	1		
Hum	Ę	-UII	Per ct.			44	44					46			49			
	eyor.	E.										Smoke			-		Sump.	Smoke
	Conv	D.										Puff			-		Notming	Flash
Observations.		By-pass C'.	-						,			Flash					Notming	do
	Damper B.											Nothing		*		,	Flash	Flash
	Mill A.						Small flame.	do	Small puff, fol-	lowed by a 3-foot flame.	Nothing	Large flash	Nothing	Nothing	0		2 pulls	Large flash
	Position of damper.											off	On				0n	do
	Feed.				Dried oat hulls.		Fine dust (oat hulls)	do			Fine oat hulls from	morning's grinding. Fine oat hulls from morning's grinding	(1 quart).	Flour from series 11	Dur flour	The second secon	MIXTURE dry Hour	No. 3 elevator dust.
	Explo- sion No.						1	2	ŝ								5	9
	Time.		a. m. 8.15	8.25	8.40	9.15	11.15	11.34	11.45		p.m. 1.55	2.00	2.06	2.20	2.27	002	2.35	2.37

TABLE 12.—Series 12. Demonstration.

32

€

	fire in A. Mill shut down.	Mill started again. In- duction coil with 2- ineh spark used.	Jsed induction coil. 5 attempts. small pieces of flint. 4	attempts. Small pieces of flint. 6 attempts	*ond we no no	
		45 48 A				
Smoke and burned par- ticles.	Smokedodododo				3 smokes. (damperon).	_
Flash	Nothing				3 flashes (damperon).	
Nothingdo	Small puff dodo. Large puff		Large puff	Large puff		
Flash Flash	Nothing dodo				4 flashes (damperon).	
2 large flashes. 2 flashes	Small flash dodo. 5 flashes		Notming	do	12 explosions (4 w i t h damper on).	
do	off. dodo					
No. 2 feed dust No. 2 feed dust (2 quarts).	No. 3 elevator dust. dodo. do		bante as No. 12	No. 3 elevator dust.	30 attempts	6, 1917.
0 00 -1	12					e: May 10
2.40 2.41	5212 5212 5215 5215 5315 5315 5315 5315	4.00	4.20	4.22	S u m- mary.	Dat

Weather: Mid and clear: temporature, 70° F. Observers: S. Soars, L. C. Winegardner, J. H. Høishman, G. J. Noth, J. P. Van Gelder, R. L. Saekett, B. W. Dedriek, R. B. Fohr, P. X. Rice, R. F. Campbell.

# GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS.

~
$\sim$
~
~
-
$\sim$
5.1
-
د.
- C.
-
-
÷
2
24
5
-
50
1
60
~ ~
_
0
· ~
÷
2
-
0.0
9
- 1
I.
3.
13
13
13
13
Е 13.—
. 13
LE 13.—
BLE 13
BLE 13
BLE 13
ABLE 13
ABLE 13.—
LABLE 13.—
TABLE 13.—

e.

-	Itemarks.	Started mill; damper on, Pemperature outside, 6,6 P. Humidity,84 per cent. Beatrie arc. 3 attempts. Relief not effective, Relief not effective, No observations, Conveyor 135 r. p. m. Pamper, 135 r. p. m. Humidity, inside and out- side, 72 per cent.
	Conveyor E.	Simoko
ns.	Relief G.	Flame and 2 pulls. Flame and 2 pulls. Smoke. Smoke. Smoke. Smoke. 2 pulls. Paines and pulls. Plames and pulls. Flames and pulls. Flames and pulls. Flames and pulls.
Observatio	Damper B.	Smoke Froot flame Smoke Smoke Proot flame Small flame Small flame Small flame Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue Analue A
	Mill A.	Nothing 3 flashes 3 flashes Nothing 40. 2 flashes 10. 2 flashes 3 flashes 2 flashes 2 argofashes 2 argofashes 2 argofashes 2 argofashes 1 avoi 1 explosion. 14 explosions
Cover C	F (1911,	Oad Indls.       Oad Indls.         Oad Indls.       Dint float and 1 pint No. 3 elevator dust, unixon.         Unit Not.       Selevator dust.         1 : 2 abovator dust.       No. 3 elevator dust.         No. 3 elevator dust.       No. 3 elevator dust.         No. 3 elevator dust.       No. 3 elevator dust.         1 I mixture floar and No. 3 elevator dust.       Junixon.         1 I mixture floar and No. 3 elevator dust.       No. 2 feed dust.         1 I mixture floar and No. 3 elevator dust.       Oo.         1 I mixture floar and No. 2 feed dust.       Oo.         20 do.       Oo.         1 1 mixture floar and No. 2 feed dust.       Oo.         20 do.       Oo.         1 1 mixture floar and No. 2 feed dust.       Oo.         00.       Oo.         00.       Oo.         1 1 mixture floar and No. 2 feed dust.         1 00.       Oo.         00.       Oo.         00.       Oo.         00.       Oo.         1 1 mixture floar and No. 2 feed dust.         1 2 1 mixture floar and No. 2 feed dust.         00.       Oo.         00.       Oo.         00.       Oo.         00.       Oo.      <
Explo-	N0.	- N
Plino	'onn 1	² ,

Date: June 9, 1917. Weather: Clear; mild; temperature, 64–77° F. Observers: R. L. Sackett, B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, P. X. Rice, R. E. Campbell, J. Weaver.

4

34

t

1				And the second se						
Dimo	Explo-	Errod			Observations.			Humid	lity.	- -
- IIIIe	No.	. naa r	Mill A.	Lamper B.	Relief G.	By-pass C'.	Conveyor E.	.ul	Out.	Itemarks.
1. m. 1 9.00								Per ct.	Per ct.	Started mill: dammer on
11.05 111.35 12.00		Barley malt sprouts. do						68	80	No explosions with arc. Do. Stopped feeding.
$p_{1.20}^{p.m.}$		Malt sprouts	Nothing						66	Are on continuously. Closed all holes, to keep in
2.40	1	Malt sprouts (unground)	Small puff	Nothing	Puff.					are on. No explosion. Large scoopfuls hereafter (2
	C1 C2	Malt sprouts (ground).	do. do	do. do	do. do					to 4 quarts).
	4 10	do. do	do do	do. do	do. do					
2.46	9	dodo	Nothing	do	do					
2.47	-	Malt sprouts	Small puff	Nothing	Small puff					Collected after explosions in 1-6.
	× 6	do do	do. do	do. do	do do					Do. Do.
2.50	10	1:1 mixture malt sprouts and No. 3 elevator dust.	Large puff	do	do					
9 55	122	do	Small puff.	do do	do do		e			
8	14	barley malt sprouts. do	do	do	do.					
	15	do	do.	do.	do					
	16	do	Puff	Nothing.	Small puff.					
.10	17	do do	Puff.	(Off)	Small puff.	Puff.				
	18	do	do	do	do	do				
	20	do	do	do.	do.	de				
	28	dodo	dodo	do	do	do				
		do	Nothing	do		0.0				

TABLE 14.—Series 14. Various cereal dusts.

GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS.

							-			
etter in	Explo-	Feed.			Observations.			IIumi	dity	Romarke
.omt I	No.		Mill A.	Damper B.	Relief G.	By-pass C'.	Conveyor E.	In.	Out.	- CALINE -
$p.\frac{m}{3,20}$	23-27	Brewers' dried grains	5 explosions	(On) Nothing.	5 puffs					No explosion when being recirculated. Not much smoke, except when fed by
3.45		1:3 mixture conveyor prod- uet and brewers' dried						99		the scoopful. 8 attempts.
4.35	28-31 32-36	grains. do. Oat hulls containing much dust.	4 puffs 5 puffs	Nothing	4 small puffs 5 puffs					4 attempts. 8 attempts. No flames. No explosion when being
5. 00 5. 20	37-38	Barley malt sprouts	2 pufis	-do	2 small puffs				68	requentation, only when fed several quarts at a time. 10 attempts. Much smoke. Shut down.
S 11 m - mary.		59 attempts	38 explosions (32 with damper on).	(On) Noth- ing.	38 puffs		(Damper on) Nothing.			
Dat	o. Sonto	mbor 11 1015								

Date: September 11, 1917. Weather: Clear; no wind; itemperature, 50-60° F. Observers: B. W. Dodrick, R. E. Campbell, A. Kerstetter.

TABLE 14.-Series 14. Various cereal dusts-Continued.

36

	ks.		Damper	50	rned on.														
	Remar		Started mill.	service. Started feedin 2 attempts.	Electric arc tu							A 40 0.00	No explosion.	Do. Recirculated. Arc on.					
idity.	-	Out.	Per ct.											62					
Humi		ц.	Per ct.	52					56					55					
	eyor-	E.				Nothing.	Nothing.	Nothing	do		Nothing.	do						Flame a n d	sparks. Nothing
	Conve	D.				Nothing	Nothing.	Nothing	dodo		Nothing.	do						Flash	Flame.
Observations.	2 2 2 2	Kenet G.				4-foot puff.	3-foot puff.	3-foot muff	dodo		3-foot puff.	Flash and puff						Flame and puff .	2 flames (2-foot).
	\$	Damper B.				Puff.	Puff	Pnff	do. do		Puff	do						7-foot flame.	3-foot flame.
•,		ALLIA.		Nothing	Nothing.	Flash Nothing	Flash.	Nothing. Flame	do do	Nothing	Flash	do.	Nothing.	Nothing.	do	do.	do.	2 flashes.	Nothing.
	Feed.			Malt sprouts	1 quart malt sprouts.	2 quarts malt sprouts. 13 quarts malt sprouts.	2 quarts malt sprouts.	do. do	3 quarts malt sprouts.	I quart malt sprouts (finely ground).	2 quarts malt sprouts (finely	ground). 1 quart floor sweepings	2 quarts finely ground malt sprouts with nails, matches, and fint	dododried grain" 1 quart "dried grain".	2 quarts "dried grain"	3 quarts "dried grain"	1 quart 1:1 mixture flour	and "dried grain."	1 quart 1 : 1 mixture "dried grain" and flour.
· ·	sion No	-0 KT				1	C1 07		H 10 'O		2	90						6	10
	Time.		<i>p. m.</i> 12.00	1.55 2.02	2.10 2.15	2.19	2.21	2.26	2.29	2.34	2.35	2.37	2.39	2.42 3.14 3.14	3.13	3.21	3.26	3.28	3.30

TABLE 15.-Series 15. Various cereal dusts.

4

GRAIN-DUST EXPLOSIONS.

in

1

1

	Romowice	TVOIDEL NO.		No explosion.		Arc off. No explosion.	Arc on. No recirculation.												Mill shut down.	
idity.		Out.		Per ct.			99												20	
Hum		In.	1	Per ct.			56												22	
	TOP	уч. – Е.			Burned parti-									Nothing				Nothing		1 flame(damp- er on).
	Convo	D.			Flash									Nothing				Nothing		3 flashes (damperon) no puffs.
Observations.		Relief G.			2 puffs (3-foot)									3-foot puff.				5 puffs		3 flames, 10 puffs
•		Damper B.			Large flash									Small puff				3-foot flame.		$\begin{array}{c} 4 & f \ l \ a \ m \ e \ s \\ (damper \ on) \\ 9 & p \ u \ f \ s \\ (damper \ on). \end{array}$
ł		Mill A.		Nothing	2 small puffs	Nothing.	Nothing	dodo	dodo	dodo	do.	do do	dn	Puff.	Nothing	do		5 puffs		13 explosions (damper on).
	Eood	T AAM		1 quart 1:2 mixture "dried	grain" and flour. do.	1 quart flour with matches, nails, and flint.	1 quart oat hulls	2 quarts oat hulls	1 quart barley malt sprouts. 2 quarts barley malt sprouts.	3 quarts barley malt sprouts.	2 quarts brewers' dried grain.	2 quarts prewers aried grain.	hu'ls and flour. 2 quarts 1 : 1 mixture barley	malt sprouts and flour. 2 quarts 1 : 1 mixture brew-	ers' dried grain and flour. 1 quart conveyor mixture	2 quarts conveyor mixture 3 quarts conveyor mixture	I quart 1: I mixture convey- or mixture and flour.	2 ¹ / ₂ quarts 1:1 mixture con- veyor mixture and flour.		43 attempts
	Explo-	No.			11									12				13		
	Timo	'ann r		p.m. 3.36	3.37	3.38 3.40	3.45 3.58	4.01	4.04	4.06	4.08	4.13	4.14	4.16	4.18	4.19	4.21	4.23	4.27	Sum- mary.

TABLE 15.-Series 15. Various cereal dusts-Continued.

Date: October 3, 1917. Weather: Olars no heace: temperature, 67–64° F. Weather: Chars no heace: temperature, 67–64° F. Westrers: R. L. Sackett, B. W. Dedrick, R. B. Fehr, R. E. Campbell, H. R. Brown, J. Weaver, A. Kerstetter.

1

BULLETIN 681, U. S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE.

# DISCUSSION OF RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS. SPARKS EMITTED BY FOREIGN SUBSTANCES.

Many attempts were made, in both the preliminary and the regular tests, to produce dust explosions in an attrition mill by introducing with the feed various kinds of foreign substances, such as nails, small pieces of stone and flint, and matches, but not once did an explosion occur. Various kinds of grain products, with different degrees of fineness, and both normal and minimum moisture contents, were fed during these attempts. Evidently, however, the intensity and amount of the heat generated by the sparks from these foreign substances were not sufficient to ignite the dust, although an explosive mixture of air and dust may have been present, as manifested by the regularity of the explosions obtained by the electric arc under identical conditions. In rare cases, and especially with very low humidity and moisture contents, it might be possible for a nail or other hard substance to be caught in such a way that a very long succession of sparks would be emitted with sufficient intensity to cause ignition. The results of these tests, however, point strongly to the following conclusions:

1. Sparks emitted by foreign substances passing through an attrition mill do not in general appear to be hot enough to ignite an inflammable dust.

2. Nevertheless, to take care of the exceptional case, every precaution should be taken to keep all foreign substances from entering the grinding machines.

# NAKED FLAME.

Only two attempts were made to obtain explosions by means of a naked or open flame, but both were entirely successful (p. 11). Safe conclusions are as follows:

1. Naked flames can readily ignite inflammable dust mixtures.

2. A naked flame should never be allowed in the vicinity of dust.

# CARBON ARC IN ATTRITION MILL.

The summary of all results obtained with the use of the electric arc is shown in Table 16. It is to be noted that in practically twothirds of the attempts with materials which gave explosions at one time or another, explosions were obtained by means of an electric arc located near the grinding discs. In every one of the 201 explosions, except Explosion 3 of Series 12, it was necessary to feed the material in the amount of at least a handful to produce an explosion. Apparently, a fairly dense cloud of dust was required to produce an explosion with even the most intense source of ignition available, the electric arc. The following conclusions can be drawn:

1. An attrition mill is capable of producing mixtures of dust and air which can be easily ignited by a sufficiently intense source of heat.

2. There is much less danger of an explosion, when the rate of feeding is less than the amount which the mill can take care of. TABLE 16.—Summary of explosions in attrition mill (electric are and foreign substances).¹

Let-m	-100.F.	9/11/ 9/11/ 9/11/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/12/ 9/
Attempts with for-	eign sub- stances.	- NO 04 14
	15	0/3 2/2 1/1 0/3 7/13
	14	5/8 5/10 10/13
	13	0/3 0/1 0/1 0/1 2/4
	12	1/12 0/6 2/2 3/3 1/1
ios.	11	0/2 0/1 11/19 0/3 0/3
Ser	6	2/8 2/6 22/24
	<b>00</b>	2/2 1/2 0/1 4/5
	C-9	374 11/1 11/1 11/1 11/1 11/1 11/1 11/1 11
-	5	4/5 1/1 2/22 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1 0/1
	1	
	Malerial.	Fine oat hulls. Fine oat hulls. Elevator dus! Riviture of clevator dusts and oat hulls. 1.3 mixture of clevator dusts and oat hulls. 1.3 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 1.3 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 1.3 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 1.4 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 1.5 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 1.6 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 1.7 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 2.8 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 2.9 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 2.9 mixture of clevator dust and oat hulls. 2.9 mixture of clevator dust. 2.9 mixture of clevator dust. 2.0 mixture of corn and clevator dust. 2.0 mixture of mat and No. 2 feed dust. 3.0 mixture of flour and No. 3 clevator dust. Mixture of flour and No. 3 clevator dust. Mixture of flour and No. 3 clevator dust. 3.1 mixture of flour and No. 3 c
Variety	desig- nation.	CP 00 NMC KJT H CF BUC
Mixture	No.	

BULLETIN 681, U. S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE.

Total Transformed frain. The observet of dried grain and floar. The matrix of conveyor product and brewers' dried grain and floar. The matrix of conveyor mixture of dried grain and floar. The matrix of or the matrix of the grain and floar. The grain and floar is the g	5/1	10	01	00	1	201/33
Brewers' dried grain.     5,8     0,3       2 mixture of conveyor product and brewers' dried grain     4,4     0,6       2 mixture of dried grain and flour.     1,4     0,6       1 mixture of dried grain and flour.     1,1     1,2       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     0,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     0,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1       1 mixture of orbit product and flour.     1,0     1,1						21
Total     Total     11/37     12/37     13/37     14/4       Simulation of conveyor product and brevers' dried grain     14/4     14/4     14/4       Drid grain     11/11/2/11     11/11/2/11     14/4       Drid grain     11/11/2/11     11/11/2/11     14/4       Drid grain     14/4     14/4       Drid grain     14/4     14/4       Drid grain     14/4     14/4       Drinkture of dried grain and flour.     14/6     16/21       Sinsure of observers' dried grain and flour.     14/6     16/21       Instruct of brevers' dried grain and flour.     14/6     16/21       Total.     Total.     11/37     12/30	0/3	9/0	$^{0/2}_{1/2}$	0/1	1/1	13/43
Reversi dried grain     anixture of feore grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.       12 mixture of of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.       12 mixture of of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.       12 mixture of of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.       11 mixture of burder waits grouts and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.       11 mixture of burder waits grouts and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.       11 mixture of burder and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.       11 mixture of burder and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.     anixture of the grain and flour.	5/8					38/59
Total     Total     24/27     35/36     13/37     12/30						14/24
Breward dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor product and brewers' dried grain       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor product and brewers' dried grain       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor product and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor product and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried grain     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried for the of Conveyor fully and four     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried for the of Conveyor fully and four     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried for the of Conveyor fully and four     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried for the of Conveyor fully and four     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried for the of Conveyor fully and four     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried for the of Conveyor fully and four     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four       Dried for the of Conveyor fully and four     Image: Solution of Conveyor fully and four						12/30
Brewers' dried grain     Image: Structure of conveyor product and brewers' dried grain       Dried grain     Dried grain and flour.       Dried grain and flour.     Image: Structure of dried grain and flour.       Drinture of dried grain and flour.     Image: Structure of or the structu						11/37
Brevers' dried grain 23 mixture of conveyor product and brevers' dried grain Dried grain. Dried grain and four. 12 mixture of ordet prain and four. 12 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 13 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 14 mixture of conveyor mixture and four. 14 mixture of conveyor mixture and four. 10 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 10 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 11 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 12 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 13 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 14 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four. 14 mixture of brevers' dried grain and four.						33/46
23 mixture of conveyor product and brewers' dried grain     1       13 mixture of conveyor product and brewers' dried grain     1       13 mixture of dried grain and four     1       14 mixture of dried grain and four     1       15 mixture of orith grain and four     1       11 mixture of orith grain and four     1       11 mixture of orith mixture and four     1       11 mixture of one observed mixture and four     1       11 mixture of one observed mixture and four     1       11 mixture of conveyor mixture and four     1       11 mixture of conveyor mixture and four     1						24/27
Brevers' dried grain 2 mixture of conveyor product and brevers' dried grain Dried grain and four 11 mixture of dried grain and four 12 mixture of oat hulls and four 11 mixture of barby matt sprouts and flour 11 mixture of barby matt sprouts and flour 11 mixture of barby mixture and flour 11 mixture of conveyor mixture and flour 11 mixture of conveyor mixture and flour 12 mixture of barby mixture and flour 13 mixture of barby mixture and flour 14 mixture of an of a mixture and flour 10 mixture of conveyor mixture and flour 11 mixture of conveyor mixture and flour 12 mixture of conveyor mixture and flour 13 mixture of conveyor mixture and flour 14 mixture of conveyor mixture and flour 10 mixture and flo		-				36/39
Brevers' dried grain Briterie of conveyor product and brevers' dried grain Dried grain. Dried grain and hour. Dried grain and hour.						16/21
To have a string grain and four stand brewers' dried grain and more all maxime of conveyor product and brewers' dried grain bried grain and four that the of dried grain and four that maxime of dried grain and four that maxime of oat huils and four that maxime of a string and four that maxime of barley matt sprouts and four that may the of barley matt sprouts and four that maxime of the sprouts and four that maxime of the sprouts and four that the sprouts and four that maxime of the sprouts and four that the sprouts and four that maxime of the sprouts and four that the sprouts and fou						4/6
	Brewers' dried grain	Dried grain.	1.1 mixture of dried grain and flour. 1.2 mixture of dried grain and flour.	1.1 mixture of oat hulls and flour. 1.1 mixture of barley malt sprouts and flour.	1.1 mixture of brewers' dried grain and flour	Total

Number of attempts with materials that gave explosions at one time or another, 305. Meximum temperature v20 B - minimum temperature 440 E - meximum humidatur 07 nor south min

Maximum temperature, 87° F.; minimum temperature, 41° F.; maximum humídity, 97 per cent; minimum humidity, 44 per cent.

1 Bach variety of material tested is given a letter (p. 10), while each different mixture and variety of material is given a number (1 to 49) for ready reference. The denominator of a fraction tester is the member of attempts to obtain explosions and the numerator indicates the number of successful attempts of barts of obtain explosions and the numerator indicates the number of vertices the attempts of attempts of attempts of a fraction is a fraction indicates the number of the type of the type of the number of attempts of attempts of a fraction indicates the number of the number of attempts of attempts of attempts of a fraction is a fraction indicates the number of the number of attempts of a fraction indicates the number of the number of attempts of a fraction indicates the number of the number of attempts of a fraction indicates the number of the number of attempts o

#### CARBON ARC IN DUST ROOM.

The location of the arc in the dust room, at the end of the screw conveyor, did not cause an explosion (Series 4). This fact, however, merely indicates that the many conditions involved in an explosive mixture did not happen to be met in this particular case. Probably the dust cloud was not dense enough. In any event, it would be well to draw the following conclusion, especially in view of past explosions in mills, and those obtained by the arc located near the grinding discs of the attrition mill:

It is always very dangerous to allow an open flame (or any source of ignition) in the vicinity of a dust-laden atmosphere.

# EXPLOSIBILITY OF VARIOUS GRAINS.

The summary of all the explosions of various materials obtained with the electric arc (except those in the demonstrations, Series 5) is found in Table 16. From the explanation of the meanings of the terms of the fractions appearing in this table it would seem that each fraction ought to indicate the inflammability of the material. As a matter of fact, these fractions, especially those of the same series, serve as rough indications of the relative inflammabilities of the various materials; but too much stress should not be laid upon this point, as most of the conditions of testing were beyond control. Relative inflammability can properly be determined only by careful laboratory methods which control the many factors entering into the question.

In view of the fact that the grinding of oat hulls constitutes an important part of the work done by attrition mills, it is interesting to note that oat hulls alone (Mixtures 1, 13, and 30) were not found to be very inflammable. Only extremely fine oat hulls, or those with considerable dust, were capable of giving inflammable mixtures, in spite of the fact that in series like 11 and 12 oat hulls were fed into the mill and recirculated continuously for several hours without a resulting explosion, except in the case of Explosion 3 of Series 12.

A study of Table 16, together with a knowledge of the conditions of testing, makes possible the following conclusions:

1. Elevator dust, flour, wheat scourings, and malt sprouts seem to produce explosions the most consistently.

2. Oat hulls do not appear to give very inflammable mixtures, unless they contain a considerable amount of fine dust.

3. Every precaution should be taken to remove dust as fast as it is formed, and to prevent it from coming in contact with any possible source of ignition.

## STATIC ELECTRICITY IN ATTRITION MILLS.

Repeated tests were made on various days, June 22, 23, 26, and July 1, 1916, to detect any charges of static electricity that might have been built up during the operation of the attrition mill. The devices employed for transferring the charge to the electroscope included the copper wire described in Series 10 (p. 16), and also a proof plane, consisting of a penny attached by sealing wax to a  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch glass tube 10 inches long. The copper lead and proof plane each gave good deflections of the electroscope when these devices were applied to bodies known to have charges of static electricity, and therefore it was certain that the methods employed for indicating the presence of static electricity were reliable. In the tests involving the use of the proof plane, it was held near the moving belt, or brought in contact with the frame of the machine, and then touched to the binding post of the electroscope, which was grounded by holding in the hand.

None of the tests run on the summer days mentioned, in none of which the humidity was lower than 70 per cent, indicated the slightest trace of static electricity during the operation of the attrition mill, with and without the feeding of various grains. This result indicated either that no static charge was being generated or the machine was too well grounded, either directly or by leakage, to retain any charge that might have been generated.

By means of the usual voltmeter method the metal frame of the attrition mill was found to be well insulated as far as low voltages (110) were concerned.

In order to test qualitatively the insulation and leakage for high voltages, one terminal of a Wimshurst machine was connected to the frame of the attrition mill. By means of the proof plane and electroscope it was found that the attrition mill was capable of retaining a slight charge for a few seconds after the charging wire had been removed. The indications of the very sensitive electroscope, however, were so feeble as to lead to the conclusion that, while the attrition mill was fairly well insulated, its leakage (owing to the many corners and edges, covering of dust, and also atmospheric moisture) and its capacity were so great that a considerable quantity of electricity would be required to establish a high potential on the frame.

Further tests (Series 10) on a winter day (temperature 42° and humidity 54 per cent) indicated the development of static electricity in the driving belts, due probably to the comparatively low moisture content of the air, but not in the frame of the machine.

Safe conclusions from these tests are as follows:

1. Any static electricity that may be generated in this particular machine is dissipated so rapidly by leakage, which is largely due to

the relatively high atmospheric humidity of this region, that no potential is built up in the frame of the machine.

2. Should an excessive amount of static electricity be developed in a mill of any kind, proper methods of grounding the machine¹ will go far toward eliminating any danger that may be due to sparks from static charges.

# STATIC ELECTRICITY AS CAUSE OF EXPLOSIONS.

In 25 attempts to ignite inflammable dusts with the spark from an induction coil, not a single explosion was obtained (Series 6, 7, and 12). From the fact that an electric arc would produce explosions under identical conditions, it would seem that the production of an explosion is largely dependent upon the extent as well as the intensity of the source of ignition, especially when there is a high velocity of the dust past the igniter, as is the case in the attrition mill. The temperature of the electric arc is estimated at about 6,200° F., but laboratory experiments ² have shown that certain dusts can be ignited at as low a temperature as 1,100° F. with a source of heat having a comparatively small area. Consequently, great care should be exercised to eliminate every possible source of ignition.

Conclusions:

1. It is comparatively difficult to ignite inflammable dusts in an attrition mill by means of static electricity.

2. Nevertheless, every precaution should be taken to eliminate static electricity in the operation of any kind of mill.

# EFFECT OF ATMOSPHERIC HUMIDITY.

The effect of humidity, both relative and absolute, upon the inflammability of dusts is not yet known, and can not be definitely determined except by laboratory investigations under carefully controlled conditions. In the tests in the attrition mill the humidity of the atmosphere was always determined by means of a carefully calibrated sling psychrometer. The relative humidity ranged from 44 per cent to very nearly saturation, or 100 per cent, in the case of a steady rain. No deductions could be made as to the effect of the relative humidity on the inflammability of grain dusts, for too many variable factors were involved. It is, however, of interest to note that in Series 3, during a steady rain, the regularity of explosions happened to be greater than in any other series. This fact seems to indicate, at least, that a high relative humidity does not tend to decrease the inflammability of dusts, except in so far as the moisture content of the materials fed into the mill may be considerably increased after a sufficient length of time.

¹ References 38 and 39, Bibliography. ² Reference 26, Bibliography.

Conclusions: There is no positive indication in the present series of tests that the humidity of the atmosphere has any material effect on the inflammability of dusts in this region, where the relative humidity is usually above 50 per cent.

Designa-				Series.		
tion.	Material.	5 1	11	12	14	15
A	Fine oat hulls	Per cent. 9.6 9.8	Per cent. 9.9	Per cent. 5.7	Per cent.	Per cent.
C	Oat hulls. Flour (direct from store)	8.9	14.1	3.2	9.2	3.3
D F	Flour (oven dried). Wheat scourings	10, 4 0, 0	9.3 9.0	$     \begin{array}{r}       10.2 \\       5.7     \end{array} $		8.5
I K	Coarse floor sweepings Conveyor mixture	8.6 9.0				
N* P	Fine oat hull dust. Barley malt sprouts.			5.2	9.4	4.0
R	Brewers' dried grain				9.4	3. 5 4. 7

TABLE 17.—Moisture contents of materials.

¹Also typical of the first 9 series.

#### EFFECT OF MOISTURE CONTENT OF MATERIALS.

Table 17 gives the results of moisture determinations made in several tests. Average samples were obtained during the feeding of the materials into the attrition mill, and were kept in carefully stoppered bottles. The method for making the moisture determinations was similar to that employed for coal analysis, in which the samples are placed in a constant temperature oven at 220° F. The crucibles containing the samples were weighed, by means of analytical balances, at frequent intervals of time until the material was dried out, as indicated by two successive weights of practically the same value. The percentage of moisture was then calculated on the basis of the original wet sample. Duplicate determinations were made in each case.

The number of moisture determinations and the range of moisture contents were not sufficient to enable one to draw any positive conclusions, but, in the case of oven-dried flour at least, a tendency toward more regularity and violence of explosions was noted. Undoubtedly the same tendency would be noted in all grains if the conditions of testing could be properly controlled, and it would perhaps be advisable to determine the minimum amount of moisture to render the material noninflammable. For the present it seems that the following conclusions may safely be drawn:

1. The less moisture a dust contains, the more inflammable it is likely to be.

2. It is probable that for inflammable dusts there is a maximum moisture content above which the dusts can not be ignited.

## TESTS OF REVOLVING DAMPERS OR FIRE TRAPS.

The tests with the revolving dampers gave the following important results:

Observations.	Single damper.	Double damper.	Observations.	Single damper.	Double damper.
Explosions with dampers in service. Flashes past damper Puffs past damper	29 6 0	69 14 10	Flashes at D. Pulls at D. Flashes at E. Pulls at E.	0 0	8 1 1 0

TABLE 1S.—Tests of revolving dampers or fire traps.

These results indicate that the double damper showed no superiority over the single damper as a preventive of flame propagation. With both single and double dampers there were cases in which flames got past with enough force to shoot out of the peephole (B) for several feet toward the observer. The devices, however, were effective to the extent that no puffs of smoke and only one flame were observed at the end (E) of the conveyor.



FIG. 5.—Attrition mills, showing fire traps or dampers.

An interesting practical application of the revolving damper as a "fire trap" is noted in the following report of an investigation by R. L. Sackett:

A large milling company in Buffalo, N. Y., has placed its battery of attrition mills in a separate building of corrugated iron (fig. 5).

Before the oats pass to the mill they have been screened and have passed a magnetic separator, which removes splinters of wood, metallic substances, and other foreign matter.

The material passes through the attrition mills and drops down toward the conveyor below.

The vertical leg below the mill has a 6-inch galvanized spout running horizontally through the side of the mill. On the end of this pipe is a flap valve with a circuit so arranged that if an explosion takes place in the mill the pressure will open the flap valve, break the electric circuit, which will in turn stop the motor which drives the mills. The pipe serves as a safety valve for the escape of gases in case of explosion.

Below the safety valve is a "fire trap" or "damper," consisting of four blades revolving on a shaft, within a casing, so designed that in case of an explosion the propagation of flame to the conveyor will be retarded or prevented. This damper

is similar to those used in experiments in the special mill built at The Pennsylvania State College for the purpose of this investigation.

This company reports that no damage has been done, and, so far as they know, explosions have not been transmitted beyond the safety pipe and damper.

The double damper as installed in the present series of tests did not give the desired effect, probably because the two sets of revolving paddles were too close together. If the flame can pass one set of blades, it is likely that it can pass an adjacent set of blades before it has been extinguished. It seems reasonable to suppose, however, that a sufficient volume or extent of passage between the two revolving dampers may cause the flame to expend its energy to such an extent that the second damper would be able to check it absolutely.

The following conclusions can be drawn:

1. A single revolving damper is a fairly effective device for preventing the violent propagation of flames, but is by no means an absolute preventive.

2. A double revolving damper does not appear to serve the purpose of a fire trap any better than a single damper.

# RELIEF VALVE AND PIPE.

Although the three tests with the relief valve and pipe leading from the hopper of the attrition mill to the outside of the building showed that this device was not effective in preventing the propagation of flames, even past the double revolving damper, it is quite possible that a larger size of valve and pipe may aid materially in accomplishing the desired result. The principle of permitting the immediate escape of confined gases that have just been ignited seems to be a proper one on which to base a preventive device.

Conclusions:

1. The relief valve and pipe as installed alone are not successful in preventing flame propagation.

2. In view of the correct principle involved, it may be worth while to try changes in the design and location of the relief valve and pipe.

A study of the foregoing discussion of the tests performed at the experimental plant of the college may lead to the objection that not enough attention was paid to the quantitative side of the problem, involving such factors as the exact amount of grain fed into the mill, the rate of feeding, the physical and chemical analyses of the material, the minimum temperature and minimum amount of heat to produce ignition, the velocity and analysis of the dust-laden gases at various points between the attrition mill and the end of the conveyor, the pressure developed by the explosion, the minimum humidity and the minimum amount of inert gases to prevent ignition of inflammable dusts, and the limits of inflammability for various dusts. To such a criticism the authors would reply that the quantitative side of the problem could be taken care of only by careful laboratory investigations such as are being conducted by the Bureau of Mines and the Bureau of Chemistry. The chief purposes of an experimental mill, such as that installed at the college, are to show that explosions can be produced in the grinding mill and propagated a considerable distance, and to test various preventive devices recommended by manufacturing concerns or by the Government. Both of these purposes have been served to some extent.

Although it has not been demonstrated that static electricity, or sparks emitted from foreign substances, are capable of producing explosions in an attrition mill, it has been positively proved that more intense sources of ignition, such as an open flame or electric arc, can easily ignite dust mixtures, and that the resulting explosion can be propagated through fire traps and the screw conveyor. Consequently, the safest plan is to guard against every possible source of ignition.

As to the second use, only three preventive devices have thus far been tested—a single revolving damper, a double revolving damper, and a relief valve. It would seem, however, that the present equipment would warrant further tests of preventive measures in cooperation with the Government.

# SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS.

The final conclusions reached after studying grain-dust explosions in an experimental attrition mill, together with the other results obtained by Government investigators, may be summarized as follows:

1. Every effort should be made to collect and remove the dust from the grinding mill and surrounding atmosphere.

2. In some cases it may be advantageous to use inert gases to decrease the oxygen content and thus prevent the formation of an explosive mixture of air and dust.

3. Every possible source of heat should be eliminated where there is any danger of having a dust-laden atmosphere.

4. Every precaution should be taken to eliminate sparks due to static electricity.¹

5. Greater use should be made of sheet iron on account of the very great danger from smoldering lumps of grain (Series 12, p. 17).

6. Revolving dampers, as installed here and elsewhere, appear to be of some value as preventive measures for the propagation of explosions.

7. The principle of the automatic relief valve should receive more attention as a possible remedy to apply for the partial prevention of the propagation of the flame.

# APPENDIX.

# **RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE INVESTIGATIONS.**

In closing, the authors desire to offer the following recommendations for future investigations:

I. Laboratory experiments to determine the limits of inflammability as affected by the following factors:

- 1. Density of the dust cloud.
- 2. Fineness of the dust particles.
- 3. Chemical composition of the dust.
- 4. Moisture content.
- 5. Inert gases.
- 6. Atmospheric humidity.
- 7. Minimum temperature and amount of heat required for ignition.
- 8. Sparks from metallic substances.
- 9. Static electricity (not merely the voltage, but current measurements as well.)

II. Field experiments on various types of machines handling dusty materials:

- 1. Tests to prove that dust mixtures outside the limits of inflammability, as already determined, with reference to moisture content, inert gases, or atmospheric humidity, can not be ignited under the most severe conditions of ignition, such as those produced by an electric arc.
- 2. Tests of various devices designed to prevent the propagation of explosions.

# **RÉSUMÉ OF SOME PAST EXPLOSIONS.**

The first large grain-dust explosion occurred in 1878 in the Washburn mill, at Minneapolis, Minn. At that time the "new process" system of milling, in which the grinding of wheat was done by millstones, was in vogue. It was assumed that, owing to a choking up of the feed spouts leading to the millstones above, one or more of the millstones became empty, and the running of the two stones against each other caused sparks, which ignited the dust in the conveyor boxes and dust rooms, causing an explosion in the dust room which destroyed the walls of the building. It is possible, and even probable, that the fire originated from open lights which were used at that time.

Another very serious mill explosion occurred on June 24, 1913, when a feed-grinding plant in Buffalo, N. Y., was completely wrecked by an explosion, presumably of dust. None of the survivors of this explosion was able to give any information as to the cause of the initial fire, but it is stated that without a doubt the explosion was caused by the ignition of feed dust. A rather curious explosion took place in a flour mill in Nebraska on September 22, 1914, in which the entire wall on one side above the second story was blown out. One end showed a bad bulge, but the roof remained intact, except that it sagged over the side from which the wall was blown out. Apparently the force of the explosion was exerted in one direction, or, rather, the wall on this side offered less resistance than the others. It is believed that the dust in one of the flour bins was ignited by a match struck by one of the workmen.

On December 11, 1916, a large cereal mill in Ontario, Canada, was totally destroyed by an explosion and subsequent fire. The fire was started by an explosion in the feed-grinding building, and was ascribed to the ignition of feed dust in one of the grinding machines.

One of the authors witnessed several dust explosions in flour mills. Although these explosions were of minor importance, because no serious consequences followed, the observations tend to give an idea as to the explosibility of flour dust, the conditions under which explosions may take place, and, in some cases, the cause of the initial explosion.

At a certain mill the settlings of the dust room, into which was blown the dust drawn from the middlings purifiers and from the exhaust off the millstones, were gathered periodically into a bin and ground on a small stone. This mixture was composed of very fine pieces of bran, fiber, larger pieces of endosperm, and a fine, impalpable, starchy, flour dust. Often, when the spout became nearly empty and the pile above started down, the dust descended with sufficient force to spurt out of the opening in the spout over the hopper, creating a dense cloud of dust. On one occasion an open light was close at hand when this dust fell, and an explosion followed. There were three distinct explosions or flashes of the burning dust, one following the other at intervals of a few seconds. These explosions were succeeded by a faint crackling sound. Each successive flash was wider in extent as the dust spread and diffused.

The first enveloped only the vicinity of the spouts and millstone; the second, a still larger area; and the third, almost the entire area of the grinding floor. The first zone, composed of the heaviest and largest dust particles, burned the most slowly, as if partially smothered; the next, more rapidly; and the last and largest zone, composed of the very lightest of the starchy particles in the state of greatest diffusion, burned most rapidly, and, consequently, with the greatest heat. This last explosion had more force than the others, and was more of the nature of an explosion than the other two.

On another occasion some purified middlings were shaken down from the side of an empty bin, and, coming in contact with the flame of an open lamp, burned with two distinct flashes, the second one spreading somewhat beyond the confines of the bin. These middling particles were too heavy to float far, and too large to burn rapidly.

Only a few years ago a certain packer lifted the lid of a flour bin, and held a lighted match within the opening to see how much flour the bin contained. Apparently the flour had been drawn down partially, leaving some piled up on one side. Set in motion by a slight jar, it fell, causing a rush of air and a thick cloud of dust, which was followed immediately by a long flame issuing from the opening in the bin. The current of air caused by the fall of the flour was evidently strong enough to prevent the flame from extending down into the bin; otherwise a disastrous explosion might have resulted. The flame burned the packer's face and arms to some extent, and caused him to fall backward. In doing so, he let the lid of the bin fall, and thus cut off the flour dust inside the bin from the flaming dust outside.

The conditions and circumstances existing just previous to each of these various explosions were similar in all cases. From such observations as were made the conclusion has been reached that only under certain favorable conditions will a serious explosion of flour dust occur. If the dust is very dense and confined within a certain volume, or if the particles forming the dust are very large, the danger of a real explosion is less than in the case of the very fine, starchy dust in less density, which may, however, burn very rapidly. The theory is that these particles of a fine, starchy nature must be separated by a layer or thin wall of air, and at the same time be near enough together to ignite each other. Dense clouds of dust, especially those containing coarse particles, are comparatively slow burning.

A dust may also be very fine, yet so widely diffused as to be incapable of ignition, even from an open light. The old-fashioned dust room, sometimes merely partitioned off with fine muslin or other cloth, constituted a dangerous source of fire or explosion, as the dust blown from machines was held more or less in suspension before settling, and, being for the most part finely divided, it would be all the more dangerous should it come in contact with an open light.



# BIBLIOGRAPHY.

 1. 1875. Vital. Recherches sur l'inflammabilité des poussières de charbon. Annales des mines, ser. 7, vol. 8, pp. 180–197.
 Describes explosion at Champagnac colliery, November 2, 1874, and experiments with dust.

- 2. 1878. Peck, L. W. Explosions from combustible dust. Sci. Amer. Suppl. 166.
- 1878. Peckham, S. F. On the explosion of the flouring mills at Minneapolis, Minnesota, May 2, and the causes of the same. Amer. Jour. Sci. and Art, ser. 3, vol. 16, pp. 301–306.
- 4. 1878. A great flour-mill explosion. Sci. Amer., May 18, vol. 38, p. 315. Brief comment on explosion at Minneapolis.
- 1882. Abel, F. A. Some of the dangerous properties of dust. Proc. Roy. Inst. Great Britain, vol. 10, pt. 1, pp. 88-113. Mentions several explosions in flour mills, and reviews the coal-dust problem. Speaks of certain noncombustible dusts exerting a contact or catalytic action on gas mixtures. Discusses preventive measures.
- 1882. Abel, F. A. Scme of the dangerous properties of dust. Abstract of lecture at Royal Institute. Nature, vol. 26, pp. 19–22. Also Trans. Chesterfield and Derbyshire Inst. Eng. vol. 10, pp. 245–280.
- 1888. Mallard, F. E. Rapport sur l'étude des questions relatives a l'emploi des explosifs en présence du grisou. Annales des mines, ser. 8, vol. 14, pp. 197-376.
- 1889. Evrard, A. Mines: L'explosion de grisou du puits Verpilleux. Le génie civil, vol. 15, pp. 264–268.
- 9. 1890. Le Chatelier, H. Le grisou et les accidents. Rev. Gen. Sci., Oct. 30, vol. 1, pp. 630-635. Minimizes danger from dust.
- 10. 1891. Stratton, T. H. M. An inquiry into the causes of the two Seaham explosions, 1871 and 1880, and the Petchin explosion, 1884. Trans. Fed. Inst. Min. Eng., vol. 3, pp. 385-402.
   Notes danger from extremely fine dust ordinarily in air of dry mines. Effect of dry winds and low temperature.
- 11. 1891. Grey, René. Résumé des conclusions du rapport final de la commission autrichienne de grisou. Bul. Soc. Ind. Min., ser. 3, vol. 5, pp. 663–711.
- 12. 1891–1892. Williams, J. L. The dust theory. Colliery Eng., vol. 12, p. 59.
- 13. 1907. Roberts, F. E. Dust explosions. Amer. Miller, July, vol. 35, p. 534.
- 14. 1908. Peckham, S. F. The dust explosions at Minneapolis, May 2, 1878, and other dust explosions. Chem. Eng., March, pp. 97-105; April, pp.146-151; May, pp. 194-197.
- 1909. Callot, Tony. The experimenting station at Liévin, France. Eng. and Min. Jour., vol. 88, pp. 1–5.
- 16. 1910. Taffanel, J. Essais sur les inflammations de poussières exécutés à la station d'essais de Liévin. Bul. Soc. Ind. Min., ser. 4, vol. 13, Sept., pp. 263-304; Dec., pp.553-599.
- 17. 1910. Aguillou, L. Un mot sur la question des poussières. Bul. Soc. Ind. Min., Oct., ser. 4, vol. 13, pp. 309-317.
- 18. 1911. Explosibility of coal dust. Bureau of Mines Bul. 20.
- 19. 1913. Inflammability of coal dust. Bureau of Mines Bul. 50.

- 20. 1913. Coal dust explosion tests. Bureau of Mines Bul. 56.
- 1913. Large explosion in Husted Milling and Elevator Co., Buffalo, N. Y. Amer. Miller, July, vol. 41, pp. 553-554.
- Tobin, T. W. Explosive and dangerous dusts. Amer. Miller, vol. 41, Sept., pp. 703-704; Oct., p. 805; Nov., pp. 870-871.
- 1913. Thornton, W. M. The influence of presence of gas upon inflammability of coal dust in air. Colliery Guardian, Sept. 19, vol. 106, pp. 578-9.

1

- 1913. Hildebrand, H. W. Origin of spark in dust explosions. Amer. Miller, Oct., vol. 41, p. 786.
- 25. 1913. Another dust warning (editorial note). Amer. Miller, Oct., vol. 41, p. 791.
- 26. 1913. Wheeler, R. V. Report on the inflammability and capacity for transmitting explosions of carbonaceous dust liable to be generated in premises. Factory and Workshop Acts.
- Price, D. J., and Brown, H. H. Preliminary report on the explosibility of grain dusts. Millers' Committee of Buffalo, N. Y. July.
- 1914. Morgan, J. D. Some experiments on explosions in tubes. Engineering, Aug. 14, pp. 209-210.
- 29. 1914. Strauch. Dust explosions, their nature and prevention. Rauch and Straub, Oct.
- 1914. Explosion in a Nebraska mill, Black Bros., Beatrice, Nebr., Sept. 22. Amer. Miller, Oct., vol. 42, p. 843.
- 1915. Morgan, J. D. An instrument for measuring flame velocities in gas and dust explosions. Engineering, Jan. 8, pp. 39-40.
- 1915. Price, D. J. Cereal dust explosions. Amer. Miller, July, vol. 43, pp. 559–560; Aug., vol. 43, pp. 647–648.
- 1915. Elliott, James. Some practical considerations relative to dust explosions. Amer. Miller, Sept., vol. 43, pp. 732-733.
- 1916. Price, D. J., and McCormick, E. B. Dust explosions and fires in grain separators in the Pacific Northwest. U. S. Dept. Agri. Bul. 379, Aug.
- 1917. Bryans, B. J. Is the fireproof mill a myth? Amer. Miller, Jan., vol. 45, p. 55.
- 1917. Brown, H. H. Inflammability of carbonaceous dusts. Jour. Ind. Eng. Chem., Mar., vol. 9, pp. 269–275.
- 37. 1917. Brown, H. H., and Clement, J. K. Inflammability of carbonaceous dusts in atmosphere of low oxygen content. Jour. Ind. Eng. Chem., Apr., vol. 9, pp. 347-349.
- 38. 1917. Price, D. J., and Goodenow, W. G. Static electricity as a cause of wheat smut dust explosions in grain thrashing machines. Amer. Thresherman and Farm Power, June, vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 5–7.
- 39. 1917. Price, D. J., and Goodenow, W. G. A device for conducting static electricity from cylinder shafts of thrashing machines. Amer. Thresherman and Farm Power, May, vol. 20, No. 1, p. 56.

ADDITIONAL COPIES of this publication May be procured from the superintembert of Documents Government printing office Washington, D. C. AT 10 CENTS PER COPY



•

•